

November 2019

DATA ACT

Quality of Data Submissions Has Improved but Further Action Is Needed to Disclose Known Data Limitations DATA ACT

Quality of Data Submissions Has Improved but Further Action Is Needed to Disclose Known Data Limitations

Highlights of GAO-20-75, a report to congressional addressees

Highlights

GAO

Why GAO Did This Study

The DATA Act requires federal agencies to disclose roughly \$4 trillion in annual federal spending and link this spending information to federal program activities so that policymakers and the public can more effectively track federal spending through its life cycle. The act also requires OMB and Treasury to establish data standards to enable consistent reporting of agency spending. The DATA Act includes a provision for GAO to report on the quality of the data collected and made available through USAspending.gov.

Specifically, this report addresses: (1) the timeliness, completeness, and accuracy of the data, and the implementation and use of data standards; and (2) progress made in developing a data governance structure consistent with key practices, and how it affects data quality. GAO examined a projectable government-wide sample of Q4 FY2018 spending data from a Treasury database that populates data on USAspending.gov by comparing them to agency source records and other sources. GAO also compared the results of Q4 2018 with results from its previous review of Q2 FY2017 data.

What GAO Recommends

GAO maintains that OMB and Treasury should address prior recommendations on monitoring agency submissions, implementing data standards, disclosing data limitations, and developing a robust data governance structure. In addition, GAO makes two new recommendations to Treasury regarding disclosing on USAspending.gov specific known data limitations. Treasury agreed with GAO's recommendations.

View GAO-20-75. For more information, contact Michelle Sager at (202) 512-6806 or sagerm@gao.gov, and Paula M. Rascona at (202) 512-9816 or rasconap@gao.gov

What GAO Found

The Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) requires federal agencies to report spending data to USAspending.gov, a public-facing website. A total of 96 federal agencies submitted required spending data for quarter four of fiscal year 2018 (Q4 FY2018). GAO examined the quality of these data and compared the results with the results of its prior review of quarter two of fiscal year 2017 (Q2 FY2017) data, as appropriate. GAO identified improvements in overall data quality, but challenges remain for completeness, accuracy, use of data standards, disclosure of data limitations, and overall data governance.

Completeness. The number of agencies, agency components, and programs that submitted data increased compared to Q2 FY2017. For example, 11 agencies did not submit data in Q4 FY2018, compared to 28 in Q2 FY2017. Awards for 39 financial assistance programs were omitted from the data in Q4 FY2018, compared to 160 financial assistance programs in Q2 FY2017.

Accuracy. Based on a projectable governmentwide sample, GAO found that data accuracy for Q4 FY2018—measured as consistency between reported data and agency source records or other authoritative sources and applicable laws and reporting standards—improved for both budgetary and award transactions. GAO estimates with 95 percent confidence that between 84 a 96 percent of the budgetary transactions and between 24 and 34 percent of the award transactions were fully consistent for all applicable data elements. In Q2 FY2017, GAO estimated that 56 to 75 percent of budget transactions and 0 to 1 percent of award transactions were fully consistent.

Use of data standards. GAO continued to identify challenges related to the implementation and use of two data elements—*Award Description* and *Primary Place of Performance Address*—that are particularly important to achieving the DATA Act's transparency goals. GAO found that agencies continue to differ in how they interpret and apply The Office of Management and Budget's (OMB) standard definitions for these data elements. As a result, data on USAspending.gov are not always comparable, and in some cases it is difficult for users to understand the purpose of an award or to identify the location where the performance of the award occurred.

USAspending.gov presentation. GAO identified known data limitations that were not fully disclosed on USAspending.gov. For example, the 90-day delay for inclusion of Department of Defense procurement data is not clearly communicated. In addition, although the website provides a total figure for unreported spending it is unclear whether it includes the 11 agencies that did not submit data. Not knowing this information could lead users of USAspending.gov to inadvertently draw inaccurate conclusions from the data.

Data governance. OMB and the Department of the Treasury (Treasury) have established some procedures for governing the data standards established under the DATA Act, but procedures for enforcing the consistent use of established data standards have yet to be developed. Persistent challenges related to how agencies interpret and apply data standards underscore GAO's prior recommendations on establishing a governance structure that ensures the integrity of these standards.

Contents

Letter		1
	Background	6
	Data Quality Has Improved, but Challenges with Completeness,	
	Accuracy, and the Implementation and Use of Data Standards Remain	8
	Fully Implementing Data Governance Consistent with Key	0
	Practices Would Improve Data Quality	32
	Conclusions	36
	Recommendations for Executive Action	37
	Agency Comments	37
Appendix I	List of Agencies and Number of Transactions in Our Sample	41
Appendix II	Objectives, Scope, and Methodology	43
Appendix III	Estimates of Consistency Rates for Award Transactions and	
	Budgetary Accounts/Balances	52
Appendix IV	Status of GAO's Open Recommendations Related to the DATA Act	58
Appendix V	Sources of Data and Process Overview on USAspending.gov	63
Appendix VI	Agencies That Submitted Data for Quarter Four of Fiscal Year 2018	67
Appendix VII	Comments from the U.S. Agency for International Development	69
Appendix VIII	Comments from the Department of the Treasury	70

Appendix IX

GAO Contacts and Staff Acknowledgments

_	~
7	•)
	2

Related GAO Products		73
Tables		
	Table 1: Tested Data Elements, Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018	3
	Table 2: Agencies Included in Sample and Number of Transactions by Type of Transaction	41
	Table 3: Data Elements and Number of Records Tested in Our Sample, Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018	46
	Table 4: Estimates of Consistency, Inconsistency, and Unverifiable Rates for Award Information by USAspending.gov Data Element, Fourth Quarter Fiscal	-10
	Year 2018 and Second Quarter Fiscal Year 2017 Table 5: Estimates of Consistency, Inconsistency, and Unverifiable Rates for Derived Award Information by USAspending.gov Data Element, Fourth Quarter Fiscal	52
	Year 2018 Table 6: Estimates of Consistency, Inconsistency, and Unverifiable Rates for Budgetary Information by DATA Act Data Element, Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018 and	54
	Second Quarter of Fiscal Year 2017 Table 7: Open GAO Recommendations regarding the Digital	55
	Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) and Data Transparency, as of October 2019 Table 2: Ninety six Agencies That Submitted DATA Act Data for	58
	Table 8: Ninety-six Agencies That Submitted DATA Act Data forthe Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018	67

Figures

Figure 1: Number of Significantly Consistent and Inconsistent Budgetary Data Elements and Award Elements and	
Subelements, Quarter Two of Fiscal Year 2017 and	
Quarter Four of Fiscal Year 2018	16
Figure 2: Significantly Consistent Data Elements and	
Subelements, Quarter Four of Fiscal Year 2018	18
Figure 3: Significantly Inconsistent Data Elements and	
Subelements, Quarter Four of Fiscal Year 2018	19

Figure 4: Award Descriptions Submitted by Agencies Varied	
Greatly	21
Figure 5: Part A and B Medicare Administrative Contractor	
Jurisdictions	25
Figure 6: Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG) Page on Department of Defense Data	
Availability	30
Figure 7: Quarterly Submission Process for the Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) Broker for Fourth Quarter Fiscal Year 2018 Agency Data	
Submissions	65

Abbreviations

CAP	cross-agency priority
CFDA	Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance
CFO Act	Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990
CMS	Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
CPE	current period ending
DABS	DATA Act Broker Submission
DAIMS	DATA Act Information Model Schema
DATA Act	Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014
DHS	Department of Homeland Security
DOD	Department of Defense
DRA	Delta Regional Authority
Evidence Act	Foundations for Evidence-Based Policy Making Act
	of 2018
OMB	Office of Management and Budget
FABS	Financial Assistance Broker Submission
FAIN	Federal Award Identification Number
FAQ	frequently asked question

FFATA	Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006
FPDS-NG	Federal Procurement Data System-Next
5050	Generation
FSRS	FFATA Subaward Reporting System
FYB	fiscal year beginning
GPRAMA	GPRA Modernization Act of 2010
GTAS	Government-wide Treasury Account Symbol
	Adjusted Trial Balance System
HHS	Department of Health and Human Services
ID	identification
IDV	indefinite delivery vehicle
IG	inspector general
MAC	Medicare Administrative Contractors
NAICS	North American Industrial Classification System
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NRC	Nuclear Regulatory Commission
NSF	National Science Foundation
OMB	Office of Management and Budget
PMA	President's Management Agenda
Q2 FY2017	second quarter of fiscal year 2017
Q4 FY2018	fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018
PIID	Procurement Instrument Identifier
SAM	System for Award Management
SAO	senior accountable official
SBA	Small Business Administration
SF 133	SF 133 Report on Budget Execution and Budgetary
	Resources
Treasury	Department of the Treasury
URI	Unique Record Identifier
USAGM	U.S. Agency for Global Media
USDA	Department of Agriculture
USSGL	U.S. Standard General Ledger
VA	Department of Veterans Affairs
	-F

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE

441 G St. N.W. Washington, DC 20548

November 8, 2019

Congressional Addressees

In the 5 years since the enactment of the Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act), much progress has been made to improve the transparency of federal spending data, which was roughly \$4.45 trillion in fiscal year 2019.¹ The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and the Department of the Treasury (Treasury) established a set of data standards to enable the reporting and tracking of federal spending data displayed on USAspending.gov. Treasury, in collaboration with OMB, issued additional guidance and improved the technical architecture used by federal agencies to facilitate their efforts to report spending data. With these improvements and improvements made in reporting data at the agency level, more agencies are reporting more data to Treasury and thus making more information available to the public.

The ongoing implementation of the DATA Act is one of several government-wide initiatives under way focused on improving the transparency and quality of federal data assets. Recent initiatives that extend beyond the DATA Act include the cross-agency priority (CAP) Goal *Leveraging Data as a Strategic Asset* under the 2019 President's Management Agenda.² This CAP Goal includes the development of a federal data strategy. In addition, the Foundations for Evidence-Based Policy Making Act of 2018 (Evidence Act), enacted in January 2019, requires, among other things, that agencies designate a Chief Data Officer to help improve data quality across government.³

While these more recent initiatives provide opportunities for continued improvement, our prior work examining the quality of the data made

²For more information on cross-agency priority goals, see: www.performance.gov/CAP/overview/.

³Pub. L. No. 115-435, § 202(e), 132 Stat. 5529, 5541–5542 (Jan. 14, 2019), *codified at* 44 U.S.C. § 3520.

¹Pub. L. No. 113-101, 128 Stat. 1146 (May 9, 2014). The DATA Act amended the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA). Pub. L. No. 109-282, 120 Stat. 1186 (Sept. 26, 2006), *codified at* 31 U.S.C. § 6101 note. We refer to language added to FFATA by the DATA Act as DATA Act requirements. According to the USAspending.gov website, the amount of federal spending represents net outlays as reported on the Monthly Treasury Statement.

available under the DATA Act has found significant data quality challenges that limit their usefulness. The DATA Act contains a provision requiring us and agency inspectors general (IG) to report on the completeness, timeliness, quality, and accuracy of the data—in 2017, 2019, and 2021.⁴ This is our second assessment of the quality—defined as encompassing the concepts of timeliness, completeness, and accuracy—of data agencies were required to report pursuant to the DATA Act.⁵ More specifically, this report addresses: (1) the timeliness, completeness, and accuracy of the data, and the implementation and use of data standards; and (2) progress made to develop a data governance structure consistent with leading practices, and how it affects data quality. We also update the status of our previous recommendations related to implementation of the DATA Act and data transparency.

To assess the timeliness, completeness, and accuracy of the data submitted and the implementation and use of data standards, we analyzed agency submission files for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 (Q4 FY2018) on USAspending.gov and reviewed a representative stratified random sample of transactions selected from the USAspending.gov database containing spending data for Q4 FY2018.⁶

We designed our stratified random sample to estimate rates within each of the three data files: (1) procurement award transactions, (2) assistance award transactions, and (3) budgetary records. Estimates for the results of the procurement, assistance, and budgetary samples have sampling errors of +/-7.8, 8, and 10 percentage points or less, respectively, at the 95 percent level of confidence. See table 1 for a listing of the six budgetary data elements and the 38 procurement and financial

⁴FFATA, § 6(b). The first IG reports were due to Congress in November 2016. However, because agencies were not required to submit spending data in compliance with the act until May 2017, the IGs were not able to report on the spending data in November 2016 as envisioned under the act.

⁵GAO, *DATA Act: OMB, Treasury, and Agencies Need to Improve Completeness and Accuracy of Spending Data and Disclose Limitations*, GAO-18-138, (Washington, D.C.: Nov. 8, 2017).

⁶Our sample was selected from the USAspending.gov database snapshot as of February 11, 2019, at which point 89 agencies, including GAO, had submitted files. We excluded ourselves from our sample population. Our Office of Inspector General (OIG) assessed the quality of our data in accordance with the mandate for OIG reviews of agency data. The report is available at https://www.gao.gov/products/OIG-19-2. See app. I for a list of the agencies selected in our sample.

assistance award data elements and subelements that we tested in our review. $^{\rm 7}$

Table 1: Tested Data Elements, Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018

Budgetary data elements	Award data elements and subelements
Treasury Account Symbol	Award Identification (ID) Number ^a
Object Class	Award Modification/Amendment Number ^b
Program Activity	Action Date
Obligations	Action Type
Outlays	Award Type
Unobligated Balance	Type of Contract Pricing (procurement only)
	 Indefinite Delivery Vehicle Type (procurement only)
	Contract Award Type (procurement only)
	Assistance Type (assistance only)
	Award Description
	Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number (assistance only)
	North American Industrial Classification System Code (procurement only)
	 Parent Award ID Number (procurement only)^b
	Federal Action Obligation
	 Original Loan Subsidy Cost (assistance only)^b
	Current Total Value of Award (procurement only)
	 Face Value of Direct Loan or Loan Guarantee (assistance only)^b
	 Potential Total Value of Award (procurement only)^b
	Awardee/Recipient Legal Entity Name
	Legal Entity Address
	• Address Lines 1 and 2 ^c
	City Name ^d
	County Name ^e
	State Name ^f
	Zip Code ⁹
	Legal Entity Country Name
	Period of Performance Start Date ^b
	 Period of Performance Current End Date^b
	 Period of Performance Potential End Date (procurement only)^b
	Primary Place of Performance Address
	City Name
	County Name ^e
	State Name

⁷See app. II for our testing methodology and app. III for the results by data element.

- Zip Code first 5ⁿ
- Zip Code last 4^h
- Primary Place of Performance Congressional District^e
- Primary Place of Performance Country Name
- Funding Agency Name
- Funding Office Name^b
- Awarding Agency Name
- Awarding Office Name^b

Source: GAO analysis of Treasury and OMB DATA Act guidance. | GAO-20-75

^aAward ID Number consists of 3 subelements under DATA Act Information Model Schema (DAIMS) 1.3 (Procurement Instrument Identifier for procurement awards, Federal Award Identification Number for financial assistance awards, and Unique Record Identifier for aggregate awards). We combined the results for Award ID Number to align with how we reported this information in 2017.

^bElement was not tested in our second quarter of fiscal year 2017 sample.

^cLegal Entity Address Lines 1 and 2 refers to two separate subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (Legal Entity Address Line 1 and Legal Entity Address Line 2), which we combined for reporting purposes.

^dLegal Entity Address City Name refers to two subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (Legal Entity Address City Name and Foreign City Name), which we combined for reporting purposes.

^eLegal Entity County Name, Primary Place of Performance County Name, and Primary Place of Performance Congressional District were derived by Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation and Financial Assistance Broker Submission rather than provided by agencies so we compared the values in the sample for these elements to other sources rather than to agency documents.

¹Legal Entity Address State Name refers to three subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (Legal Entity Address State Description for procurement awards and Legal Entity Address State Name and Foreign Province Name for financial assistance awards), which we combined for reporting purposes.

^gLegal Entity Address Zip Code refers to four subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (*Legal Entity Address Zip+4* for procurement awards, *Legal Entity Address Zip 5 and Last 4* for financial assistance awards, and *Legal Entity Address Foreign Postal Code* for foreign financial assistance awards), which we combined for reporting purposes.

^h*Primary Place of Performance Address Zip Code* is one subelement under DAIMS 1.3 (*Primary Place of Performance Address Zip+4*), which contains both the first five digits from the zip code and the last four. However, the USAspending.gov database we obtained our sample from contained the zip code information for this element in two parts: five digit zip code and +4. Therefore, the results for these are presented separately for reporting purposes.

We compared the results of our review of Q4 FY2018 data to those of our second quarter of fiscal year 2017 (Q2 FY2017) data that we reviewed in our first mandated assessment of data quality. For both reviews, we examined a projectable sample of budgetary and award transactions from a database that according to Treasury is partly used to display data on USAspending.gov. However, there were the following differences: (1) our 2017 sampling frame was confined to the 24 Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 (CFO Act)⁸ agencies (which represented 99 percent of

⁸31 U.S.C. § 901(b). The CFO Act, among other things, established Chief Financial Officer positions at major federal entities. The current list of 24 included entities is commonly referred to as the CFO Act agencies.

obligations in our data set at that time), while our sampling frame for this review included all agencies that submitted Q4 FY2018 data files as of February 11, 2019;⁹ (2) more agencies and their components reported data in Q4 FY2018 than in Q2 FY2017: (3) in 2017, our estimated error rate calculations included elements of certain sampled transactions that were determined to be not applicable to the transaction, and were classified as consistent with agency sources in both the numerator and denominator, while in this review, we excluded not-applicable elements from both the numerator and denominator of the estimated rate calculations; (4) our sampling frame for this review included more data elements and subelements than were in our Q2 FY2017 sampling frame; (5) in this review, since three data elements we reviewed were derived by Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG) and Financial Assistance Broker Submission (FABS) rather than provided by agencies, we compared the information in the sample to other sources rather than agency documents and therefore did not compare those results to Q2 FY2017; (6) agencies' Q4 FY2018 data were submitted under policies and procedures outlined in the DATA Act Information Model Schema (DAIMS) v1.3 which reflects changes in validation rules and reporting requirements from the DAIMS v1.0 that was in effect in 2017; (7) OMB issued additional guidance on DATA Act reporting since we reported in 2017;¹⁰ and (8) changes were made to the Treasury broker-the system that collects and validates agency data-since our last report.

To evaluate how the current data governance structure affects data quality, we compared data quality challenges we identified during our review to key practices for data governance identified in our prior work.¹¹ To assess progress made to develop a data governance structure consistent with key practices, we reviewed policy and other documentation related to ongoing efforts to develop a government-wide structure for governing the standards established under the act, and interviewed OMB staff about these efforts. For the agencies selected in our sample, we also reviewed agency data quality plans and agency guidance intended to facilitate agency efforts to establish data

⁹We did not include GAO in our review for independence reasons.

¹⁰For example, in June 2018, OMB issued *M*-18-16, *Appendix A to OMB Circular No. A- 123, Management of Reporting and Data Integrity Risk.*

¹¹GAO, *DATA Act: OMB Needs to Formalize Data Governance for Reporting Federal Spending*. GAO-19-284 (Washington, D.C.: Mar. 22, 2019).

governance programs, and interviewed agency officials on their data governance efforts.

To update the status of our prior recommendations related to the implementation of the DATA Act, we reviewed new guidance and other related documentation, and interviewed OMB staff and Treasury officials. See app. IV for an update on our open recommendations related to data transparency and DATA Act implementation. Additional details regarding our objectives, scope, and methodology along with information about data reliability are provided in app. II.

We conducted this performance audit from November 2018 to November 2019 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Background

Signed into law on May 9, 2014, the DATA Act expands on previous federal transparency legislation. It requires a greater variety of data related to federal spending by agencies, such as budget and financial information, to be disclosed and agency spending information to be linked to federal program activities so that policymakers and the public can more effectively track federal spending through its life cycle.

The act gives OMB and Treasury responsibility for establishing government-wide financial data standards for any federal funds made available to, or expended by, federal agencies.¹² As Treasury and OMB implemented the DATA Act's requirement to create and apply data standards, the overall data standardization effort has been divided into two distinct, but related, components: (1) establishing definitions which describe what is included in each data element with the aim of ensuring that information will be consistent and comparable and (2) creating a data exchange standard with technical specifications that describe the format, structure, tagging, and transmission of each data element.

¹²The 57 government-wide data standards established by OMB and Treasury pursuant to the DATA Act can be found here:

https://portal.max.gov/portal/assets/public/offm/DataStandardsFinal.htm.

	Accordingly, OMB took principal responsibility for developing policies and defining data standards. Treasury took principal responsibility for the technical standards that express these definitions, which federal agencies use to report spending data for publication on USAspending.gov. Under the act, agencies are required to submit complete and accurate data to USAspending.gov, and agency-reported award and financial information is required to comply with the data standards established by OMB and Treasury. See app. V for more information on the sources of data and process for submitting data under the DATA Act.
GAO Reports on Data Quality and Data Governance	Since the DATA Act's enactment in 2014, we have issued a series of reports and made recommendations based on our ongoing monitoring of DATA Act implementation. ¹³ In November 2017, we issued our first report on data quality, which identified issues with, and made related recommendations about, the completeness and accuracy of the Q2 FY2017 data that agencies submitted, agencies' use of data elements, and Treasury's presentation of the data on Beta.USAspending.gov. ¹⁴ In addition, as part of our ongoing monitoring of DATA Act implementation, and in response to provisions in the DATA Act that call for us to review IG reports and issue reports assessing and comparing the quality of agency data submitted under the act and agencies' implementation and use of data standards, we issued a report in July 2018, based on our review of the IG reports of the quality of agencies' data for Q2 FY2017. ¹⁵
	¹³ See the Related GAO Products list at the end of this report.
	¹⁴ GAO-18-138. Prior to March 2, 2018, agency data were published on Beta.USAspending.gov, a beta version of the current USAspending.gov website.
	¹⁵ GAO, <i>DATA Act: Reported Quality of Agencies' Spending Data Reviewed by OIGs Varied Because of Government-wide and Agency Issues,</i> GAO-18-546 (Washington, D.C.: July 23, 2018).
	¹⁶ GAO, <i>DATA Act: Progress Made in Initial Implementation but Challenges Must be Addressed as Efforts Proceed</i> , GAO-15-752T (Washington, D.C.: July 29, 2015).

to promote data quality and ensure that the integrity of data standards is maintained over time.

In March 2019, we reported on the status of OMB's and Treasury's efforts to establish policies and procedures for governing data standards.¹⁷ We found that OMB and Treasury have established some procedures for governing the data standards established under the DATA Act, but a formal governance structure has yet to be fully developed. Therefore, we made recommendations to OMB to clarify and document its procedure for changing data definition standards, and to ensure that related policy changes are clearly identified and explained.

Data Quality Has Improved, but Challenges with Completeness, Accuracy, and the Implementation and Use of Data Standards Remain For Q4 FY2018, 107 agencies, including all 24 CFO Act agencies and 83 non-CFO Act agencies, determined they were required to submit data, or they would voluntarily submit data, under the DATA Act.¹⁸ Of these 107 agencies, 96 submitted data for Q4 FY2018. This is an increase over the initial submissions for Q2 FY2017 when 78 agencies submitted data that covered 91 federal entities.¹⁹ This represents an improvement in the number of agencies reporting. However, not all the required files submitted by agencies were complete, and the data submitted were not always accurate (i.e., consistent with agency source records and other authoritative sources and applicable laws and reporting standards). In addition, we found that some CFO Act agencies did not include certain financial assistance programs that made awards during fiscal year 2018 in their submissions. Finally, some agencies continued to have challenges in reporting some data elements in accordance with standards.

¹⁹See GAO-18-138. In our review of data for Q2 FY2017, the complete population of agencies that were required to submit data under the DATA Act was unknown because some agencies had not yet determined whether they were subject to the act.

¹⁷GAO-19-284.

¹⁸Treasury tracked the submissions for 107 agencies that determined they were required to or would voluntarily submit data under the DATA Act for Q4 FY2018. One of the 107 agencies—the Vietnam Education Foundation—was set to officially sunset as of December 31, 2018, and its DATA Act submission for Q4 FY2018 was its last. See app. VI for the agencies that submitted DATA Act data for Q4 FY2018.

Agencies That Submitted Data Were Generally Timely, but Several Agencies Failed to Report All or Some of Their Data While the total number of agencies that submitted data for Q4 FY2018 increased compared to Q2 FY2017, more agencies submitted their data for Q4 FY2018 after the due date compared to Q2 FY2017. In addition, the data for Q4 FY2018 available on USAspending.gov are not complete because some agencies failed to submit data or submitted partial data.

Fourteen agencies submitted late. Agencies were required to submit their DATA Act files for Q4 FY2018 by November 14, 2018—45 days after the end of the quarter.²⁰ Eighty-two agencies submitted their data on time. These 82 agencies represented about 84 percent of the total obligations government-wide reported to Treasury on the SF 133 for Q4 FY2018.²¹ Fourteen agencies submitted their data after the November 14, 2018 due date. Our prior review of data submitted for Q2 FY2017 found that one agency submitted data after the due date.²²

Eleven agencies did not submit data. Eleven non-CFO Act agencies did not submit any DATA Act files for Q4 FY2018.²³ By contrast, in reviewing Q2 FY2017 data, we identified 28 agencies that determined they should have reported data under the DATA Act, but did not.²⁴ Agencies told us that they did not submit data for Q4 FY2018 because (1) there was confusion or miscommunication between the agency and its shared service provider about who was responsible for reporting the data;

²⁰Agencies can certify their quarterly DATA Act data the day after the Government-wide Treasury Account Symbol Adjusted Trial Balance System (GTAS) reporting window closes. Agencies can test their submissions at any time throughout the quarter and may recertify their data at any time after the respective quarter's GTAS reporting window closes.

²¹To help understand the proportion of spending that agencies reported by the due date, we determined the amount of obligations reported by each agency based on a file we obtained from Treasury that contains SF 133 Report on Budget Execution and Budgetary Resources (SF 133) data reported by agencies, which includes obligation balances as of Q4 FY2018. An obligation is a definite commitment that creates a legal liability of the government for payment of goods and services ordered or received. An agency incurs an obligation, for example, when it places an order, signs a contract, or awards a grant.

 $^{22}\text{GAO-18-138}.$ The agency that submitted its Q2 FY2017 data late, submitted its Q4 FY2018 data on time.

²³We initially identified 18 agencies that had not submitted any DATA Act files for Q4 FY2018. We followed up with those agencies to determine the reasons and found that two agencies had submitted their data in March and April 2019. However, five of the agencies had not submitted their DATA Act files, but did so in June 2019, after our follow up. These seven agencies are included in the 14 agencies that submitted data after the deadline.

²⁴GAO-18-138.

(2) their officials had determined the agency was not required to report;
(3) new staff were unfamiliar with DATA Act requirements; and
(4) technical or systems issues, such as a financial system upgrade in process, prevented them from reporting their data.

Multiple agencies submitted blank files. Of the 96 agencies that submitted DATA Act files for Q4 FY2018, 35 non-CFO Act agencies submitted the file that links budget and award information (i.e., File C) or the file containing procurement data (i.e., File D1) that did not contain any data (i.e., files were blank).

Specifically, 34 non-CFO Act agencies submitted a blank File D1, which contains procurement data, and 16 of those 34 also submitted a blank File C. Another non-CFO Act agency submitted a blank File C only. File C data are particularly important to oversight and transparency because they link budget and award information, as required by the DATA Act.²⁵ Without this linkage, policymakers and the public may be unable to effectively track federal spending because they would be unable to see obligations at the award and object class level.

Agencies told us they submitted files without data for reasons including: (1) their data was submitted by and comingled with their shared service provider's DATA Act submissions;²⁶ (2) they did not have award activity to report or award activity was below the micro-purchase threshold for reporting; and (3) they do not use the Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation or their systems were unable to produce the data necessary to create the files.

We did not assess the completeness of File D1 in 2017, but we found that 13 agencies submitted a blank File C in Q2 FY2017.²⁷ Of these 13 agencies, two were CFO Act agencies with large amounts of award activity —the Departments of Defense (DOD) and Agriculture (USDA)—both of which did submit a File C with data for Q4 FY2018.

²⁷GAO-18-138.

²⁵FFATA, § 3(b).

²⁶According to some of the agencies, the Treasury broker was designed to pull data from FPDS-NG based on the awarding agency instead of the funding agency. Therefore, these agencies' procurement data were included in the shared service provider file instead of their own File D1. The agencies also noted that this issue was remedied by Treasury beginning with the first quarter of fiscal year 2019.

Two agencies submitted incomplete files. DOD and Treasury submitted all seven required DATA Act files for Q4 FY2018, but the data in some of those files were not complete. According to DOD officials, its File C submission for Q4 FY2018 included data from six of its 18 accounting systems. DOD officials said they are working to report data from all 18 systems in File C by the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019.²⁸ They said prior to Q4 FY2018, OMB granted DOD extensions for reporting financial and payment information in File C, as permitted by the act.²⁹ DOD officials said the extensions allowed DOD to focus on financial statement audit readiness, build a single source tool from which File C obligation data could be aligned with procurement and grant data, and coordinate with the intelligence community on concerns over increased transparency.

According to Treasury officials, the agency's data submission did not include the spending of one of its component organizations—the Treasury Executive Office for Asset Forfeiture, Equitable Sharing Program—because OMB guidance does not allow for reporting aggregate transactions when Primary Place of Performance, a required data element, is at a multistate or nationwide level. According to Treasury officials, Treasury is working with OMB and the Treasury DATA Act Program Management Office to allow for these types of transactions to be reported.³⁰

In our 2017 review, we identified similar challenges with the completeness of agencies' DATA Act submissions for Q2 FY2017 and made recommendations to Treasury and OMB to improve the completeness of data on USAspending.gov. We recommended that Treasury reasonably assure that ongoing monitoring controls to help ensure the completeness and accuracy of agency submissions are

²⁹FFATA, § 4(c)(2)(B).

³⁰According to Treasury, approximately \$105.9 million of obligations for the Treasury Executive Office for Asset Forfeiture, Equitable Sharing Program, was not included in Treasury's DATA Act submission.

²⁸According to DOD officials, DOD's File C submission for Q4 FY2018 represented just less than 2 percent (or about \$2.2 billion) of the federal obligation actions submitted in its Files D1 and D2 for the same reporting period, which totaled \$117 billion. DOD officials also said the submission for the first quarter of fiscal year 2019 included data from 11 accounting systems, and its second quarter of fiscal year 2019 submission was expanded to 14 systems. Officials expected that DOD will be capable of producing File C data from all applicable general ledger accounting systems by the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2019.

designed, implemented, and operating as intended. Treasury agreed with this recommendation. In September 2019, Treasury officials told us that they are working to formalize a process for monitoring agency submissions that will include emailing reminders to agencies prior to submission deadlines, following up with agencies that do not submit required data on time, and forwarding a list of non-compliant agencies to OMB.

We also recommended that OMB continue to provide ongoing technical assistance that significantly contributes to agencies making their own determinations about their DATA Act reporting requirements and that it monitor agency submissions.³¹ While OMB generally agreed with our recommendation, it has not yet taken steps to monitor agency submissions to help ensure their completeness. In October 2019, OMB staff told us that they believe monitoring agency submissions is not their responsibility.

During this review we asked agencies why they did not submit data for Q4 FY2018. Subsequently, five of them submitted their data late (out of the initial 18 agencies that had not submitted data), demonstrating that simple monitoring tasks such as a follow up call or email can result in actions taken by the agencies. To address ongoing challenges with the completeness of agencies' DATA Act submissions, we continue to maintain that Treasury and OMB should monitor agencies' submissions to help ensure the completeness and accuracy of those data submissions. See app. IV for more information on the status of these recommendations.

Agencies did not report awards made to 39 financial assistance programs. Seven of the 24 CFO Act agencies did not report spending for at least one financial assistance program that made awards during fiscal year 2018. File D2 contains detailed information about individual financial assistance awards. We compared the spending data reported by the 24 CFO Act agencies in File D2 against the Assistance Listings, formerly known as the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA), a

³¹GAO-18-138.

government-wide compendium of federal programs, projects, services, and activities that provide assistance or benefits to the American public.³²

As of March 2019, the *Assistance Listings* website contained 2,926 programs for the CFO Act agencies. Of these, 39 programs (approximately 1 percent) were not included in the Q4 FY2018 DATA Act submissions, even though these agencies stated that they made reportable awards during fiscal year 2018. In comparison, in July 2017, the CFDA listed 2,219 programs for the CFO Act agencies. Of these 2,219 programs, 160 programs (approximately 7 percent) were not included in the Q2 FY2017 DATA Act submissions even though they made reportable awards.³³ The remaining programs either reported at least one award or did not make awards that were subject to reporting.³⁴

To provide a sense of magnitude of the underreporting, we obtained estimates of the total projected annual spending for these programs for fiscal year 2018 from the Assistance Listings website and applicable agencies. Based on the estimated obligations, the 39 programs account for approximately \$11.5 billion in estimated annual obligations in fiscal year 2018. The omitted amounts largely resulted from USDA's failure to report 27 programs representing more than 99 percent of the estimated annual obligations. According to USDA officials, USDA did not submit awards for some of these programs because it maintains that the information in legacy reporting systems is incompatible with the Treasury broker. USDA is working on solutions to resolve identified reporting challenges with its financial and awards systems.

Treasury took steps to address findings on completeness issues for financial assistance programs we reported in 2017. At Treasury's request,

³³GAO-18-138.

³²The Assistance Listings website was previously known as the CFDA. In May 2018 the CFDA legacy system transitioned to the Integrated Award Environment, managed by the General Services Administration. The Assistance Listings website is available at: https://beta.sam.gov. The website is currently in a beta state but it is the official source for assistance listings. The Assistance Listings website provides a list of grant, loan, and other financial assistance programs that is independent from DATA Act reporting.

³⁴Some awards, such as classified awards and individual transactions below \$25,000, are exempt from the reporting requirements of FFATA as amended by the DATA Act. FFATA, §§ 2(a)(4), 7. Separately, agencies told us that awards for certain programs were reported under different CFDA numbers, under a different fiscal quarter, or as procurements rather than financial assistance transactions. We did not include such programs in our count of nonreporting programs.

we provided details regarding the programs that were omitted from the USAspending.gov database for fiscal year 2017, which Treasury shared with the appropriate agencies. In our review of fiscal year 2018 data, we found that only nine of these programs did not report.

Budgetary and Award Data Accuracy Has Improved	Based on the results of testing performed on a sample of budgetary and award transactions, we found that the overall completeness within individual transactions and accuracy of the reported data was high. We selected a projectable government-wide sample of 405 transactions and tested 41 data elements and subelements associated with them for completeness and accuracy. We determined data completeness within the transaction based on whether the element included a value and whether the value was appropriate. ³⁵ We determined accuracy of data elements by determining consistency with agency source records as well as applicable laws and reporting standards. ³⁶ Specifically, based upon our sample we estimate with a 95 percent confidence level that all the data in the population were between 99 and 100 percent complete and between 90 and 93 percent accurate. ³⁷ We further analyzed accuracy at the transaction and individual data element levels as follows: 1. Transaction level, which describes the extent to which all applicable data elements within an individual transaction are complete and consistent with agency source records, and applicable laws and reporting standards. ³⁸
	³⁵ For example, for the data element <i>Period of Performance Start Date,</i> an appropriate value would be a date as opposed to some other value.

³⁷We did not report on the overall error rates for completeness and accuracy in our 2017 review. In that review we reported at the transaction and data element levels only.

³⁸Depending on the type of transactions, the number of applicable data elements and subelements varied. For example, *Original Loan Subsidy Cost* is only applicable to loan transactions.

³⁶This is the same approach we used in our prior work (see GAO-14-476 and GAO-18-138). For the purposes of this report we use the term transactions to refer to the financial and award records included in our sample to distinguish it from the agency source records we used to verify the completeness and consistency of the data. Applicable laws and standards include the DATA Act Information Model Schema.

 Data element level, which describes the extent to which the data elements and subelements used for reporting budgetary and award information were consistent with agency source records and applicable laws and reporting standards.

Consistency of transactions. For data submitted in Q4 FY2018, we found that the level of consistency differed between budgetary and award transactions, but both improved compared to the data we sampled for our review of Q2 FY2017 data.³⁹ Based on our projectable government-wide sample of Q4 FY2018 data, we estimate with 95 percent confidence that between 84 and 96 percent of the budgetary transactions and between 24 and 34 percent of the award transactions in the USAspending.gov database were fully consistent with agency sources. We considered a transaction to be "fully consistent" if the information contained in the transaction was consistent with agency records for every applicable data element. This result represents an increase in consistency from what we reported in 2017, when we estimated that between 56 and 75 percent of budgetary transactions were fully consistent, and between 0 and 1 percent of award transactions were fully consistent.⁴⁰

In addition to the transactions that were fully consistent, we estimate that 94 to 100 percent of budgetary transactions and 62 to 72 percent of award transactions in the population were significantly consistent. We considered a transaction significantly consistent if 90 percent or more of the data elements and subelements in the transaction were consistent with agency source records and applicable laws and reporting standards.

Consistency of data elements. We also found improvements in the consistency of budgetary and award data elements with agency records, and applicable laws and reporting standards. As shown in figure 1, more

³⁹For our review of Q4 FY2018 data, we expanded the scope of our statistical sample from the 24 CFO Act agencies to include submissions from all agencies. We also reviewed more data elements in the sample selected from the Q4FY2018 data. See app. II of this report for more information on the differences between this review and the 2017 review.

⁴⁰We observed this improvement even though we used a more conservative definition of consistency as well as tested a larger number of data elements per transaction in the evaluation of our statistical sample drawn from the Q4 FY2018 data. In our review of Q2 FY2017 data, we included the test results for data elements which were not applicable to a data record as consistent results in the numerator and denominator when calculating the percent of data elements deemed not applicable results in the numerator and denominator when calculating the numerator and denominator when calculating the percent of data elements deemed not applicable results in the numerator and denominator when calculating the percent of data elements consistent in a record.

data elements were significantly consistent and fewer were significantly inconsistent in Q4 FY2018 than Q2 FY2017.



Figure 1: Number of Significantly Consistent and Inconsistent Budgetary Data Elements and Award Elements and

Neither significantly consistent nor significantly inconsistent data elements

Source: GAO analysis of Beta.USAspending.gov database downloaded on 5/24/2017, USAspending.gov database downloaded on 2/11/2019, and agency sources. | GAO-20-75

Notes: Although both our 2017 and 2019 reviews examined a projectable sample of budgetary and award transactions from the database that is used to display data on USAspending.gov, they differed in the following areas: (1) in 2017, our sampling frame was confined to the 24 Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 (CFO Act) agencies (which represented 99 percent of obligations in our data set at that time) and our sampling frame for this review included all agencies' data submitted as of February 11, 2019; (2) more agencies and agencies' subunits reported data in Q4 FY2018 than in Q2 FY2017; (3) in 2017, the estimated rates included elements that were not applicable as consistent while in this review we excluded not applicable elements from both the numerator and denominator of the estimated rate calculations; (4) our sampling frame (5) in this review, since three data elements we reviewed were derived by the Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation and Financial Assistance Broker Submission rather than agency documents and therefore did not compare those results to Q2 FY2017 (6) agencies' Q4 FY2018 data were submitted under policies and procedures outlined in the *DATA Act Information Model Schema* (DAIMS) version 1.3, which reflects changes in validation

rules and reporting requirements from the DAIMS v1.0 that was in effect in 2017; (7) OMB issued additional guidance on DATA Act reporting since we reported in 2017; and (8) changes were made to the Treasury broker since our last report.

We considered a data element to be "significantly consistent" if the estimated consistency rate was at least 90 percent. Five of six of the budgetary data elements were significantly consistent in Q4 FY2018, compared to four of seven data elements in our 2017 review. We also found improvements in the consistency of award data elements and subelements compared to our 2017 review. Eighteen of the 35 award data elements and subelements in our sample were significantly consistent in Q4 FY2018, compared to only one of 26 data elements and subelements we tested in our 2017 review. See figure 2 for the data elements and subelements in our sample that were significantly consistent.

Figure 2: Significantly Consistent Data Elements and Subelements, Quarter Four of Fiscal Year 2018



Source: GAO analysis of USAspending.gov database downloaded on 2/11/2019 and agency sources. | GAO-20-75

Note: Range bars display confidence intervals (sampling errors) for the estimates at the 95 percent confidence level.

^aWe considered a data element or subelement to be "significantly consistent" if the estimated consistency rate was at least 90 percent.

We considered a data element "significantly inconsistent" if it was either not consistent with agency records or incomplete at least 10 percent of the time. We found that no budgetary data elements were significantly inconsistent, which is an improvement from our 2017 review where we found one budgetary data element—Obligation—significantly inconsistent. Similarly, we found fewer significantly inconsistent award data elements compared to our 2017 review. Specifically, we found five of 35 award data elements and subelements significantly inconsistent in Q4 FY2018, compared to 11 of 26 in our 2017 review. See figure 3 for the data elements and subelements in our sample that were significantly inconsistent.

Figure 3: Significantly Inconsistent Data Elements and Subelements, Quarter Four of Fiscal Year 2018



Source: GAO analysis of USAspending.gov database downloaded on 2/11/2019 and agency sources. | GAO-20-75

Note: Range bars display confidence intervals (sampling errors) for the estimates at the 95 percent confidence level.

^aWe considered a data element or subelement to be "significantly inconsistent" if it was either not consistent with agency records or incomplete at least 10 percent of the time.

Unverifiable data elements. We found no data elements that exhibited a significant amount of unverifiable information—incomplete or inadequate agency source records that prevented us from determining whether the

data element was significantly consistent or inconsistent.⁴¹ See app. III for details.

While we tested the consistency of agency records and applicable laws and reporting standards for the 41 data elements and subelements previously discussed, we performed a different test for three other data elements that contained a value derived by FPDS-NG and FABS. These data elements and subelements—*Legal Entity County Name, Primary Place of Performance County Name*, and *Primary Place of Performance Congressional District*—were assessed against the other sources from which they were derived, such as data from the U.S. Census Bureau and house.gov, rather than agency records. We found that each were neither significantly consistent nor significantly inconsistent with their sources. See appendix III, table 5 for details.

Overall Data Quality Is Limited by Challenges in the Implementation and Use of Some Data Standards

The DATA Act requires OMB and Treasury to establish data standards to produce consistent and comparable reporting of federal spending data. While we found improvements in the overall completeness and accuracy of the data when compared with the results of our 2017 review, we identified persistent challenges with the implementation and use of two award data elements—*Award Description* and *Primary Place of Performance Address* that limit the usefulness of these data. We previously reported that these data elements are particularly important to achieving the transparency goals envisioned by the DATA Act because they inform the public what the federal government spends money on and where it is spent.

In our sample results, we found agencies reported values for *Award Description* that were significantly inconsistent with agency sources and with the established standard for reporting this data element which is defined by the DATA Act data standard as a "brief description of the purpose of the award." Based on our testing of a representative sample of Q4 FY2018 transactions, we estimate that the *Award Description* data element was inconsistent with agency source records or contained information that was inconsistent with the established standard in 24 to 35 percent of awards. While this represents an improvement over the results we reported for this data element in 2017, we found in our testing that

⁴¹For the purposes of this report, we defined data elements as having a significant amount of unverifiable information as those where at least 10 percent of the awards contained unverifiable information. This is the same definition we used in our 2017 review.

agencies continue to face challenges in reporting *Award Description* consistent with the established standard. See figure 4 for several examples of the *Award Description* data submitted by agencies in our sample, which illustrates the range of agency interpretations of this data element from understandable to incomprehensible.

Figure 4: Award Descriptions Submitted by Agencies Varied Greatly

According to the DATA Act data standard, Award Description is defined as "a brief description of the purpose of the award."



Sources: GAO analysis of USAspending.gov database downloaded on 2/11/2019 and federal agencies' data submissions. | GAO-20-75

Lengthy, technical description. For example, the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) included several paragraphs for the description of procurement and financial assistance award transactions in our sample that were long and highly technical. These descriptions did not meet the data standard because they contained acronyms, jargon, and other technical terminology that might be challenging for others outside the agency to understand. NASA officials said they use the Award Description field internally to search for vendors when making awards for similar services. Thus, they instructed contract officers to include as much information as possible to maximize the Award Description field for later use.

As of June 2019, the General Services Administration decreased the character limit for reporting *Award Description* in FPDS-NG for procurement awards from 4,000 characters to 250 characters to discourage agencies from copying and pasting sizeable portions of a contract's contents rather than thoughtfully including a brief description of what is being procured.⁴² NASA officials said that the new maximum will limit the flexibility to search for contractors. They are seeking alternatives for these searches.

No description provided. The Department of Education reported "unknown title" for the *Award Description* for the majority of the financial assistance award transactions in our sample. This does not meet the data standard because it does not provide any information about the award. Agency officials said the *Award Description* is provided by the applicant and if one is not provided, their system automatically will populate it as "unknown title."

Geographic information. DOD reported location information for the Award Description in several transactions in our sample. The locations reported in the description field were not understandable except to agency officials. For example, one field contained the text "4542874050!TRBO REGION 1." DOD officials explained that this description includes the part number for a medical supply item and the region of the country and is auto populated by an agency system. While the description is consistent with agency sources, it is not easily understood by the public. The Defense Federal Acquisition Regulation Supplement Procedures, Guidance, and Information provides instructions to use plain English as much as

⁴²The General Services Administration administers FPDS-NG.

possible, and to explain numbers and acronyms.⁴³ DOD officials said the agency is investigating methods to improve how similar transactions are auto-populated.

Description of modification. The Department of Homeland Security (DHS) used the Award Description field to describe modifications to contracts instead of the good or service being procured. Specifically, DHS reported "de-obligate excess funds and closeout" for a modification to a contract that procured information technology products and services. DHS officials said reporting the nature of the modification, rather than the original purpose of the award, is consistent with practices used in contract writing systems across the federal government and is intended to inform the public of changes made to the contract by the modification. DHS is working with Treasury to clarify how this information is displayed on USAspending.gov and suggested that additional information on how award descriptions for modifications are to be reported would be beneficial and should be provided in the DAIMS.

We found that some individual agencies have taken steps to provide additional guidance on *Award Description* to ensure agency personnel are providing information that is consistent with the standard. Four agencies in our sample had additional guidance for their contracting officers. For example, officials from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) said that in June 2019, VA trained hundreds of members of its contracting workforce with curriculum that included an interactive game to illustrate how to provide a brief description of an award that meets the standard for reporting this information. Officials from 11 agencies said additional guidance on *Award Description* could help ensure those entering the data understand the standard definition and report appropriate information, for example, by providing examples of award definitions that meet the standard. In the absence of government-wide guidance, agencies have reported values that are inconsistent with the data standard and not comparable between agencies.

Agencies also reported several challenges with reporting *Primary Place of Performance Address* for nonroutine locations, which OMB and Treasury defined as "where the predominant performance of the award will be accomplished." Taking into account each of its subelements, we found the information regarding *Primary Place of Performance Address* had

⁴³DFARS PGI 204.606(3)(xiii)(I).

higher rates of inconsistency than the majority of the data elements in our review.

For example,

• **Multiple subrecipients.** Agency officials reported challenges with identifying *Primary Place of Performance Address* in cases where an award is made to a recipient that further distributes the funding to subrecipients. For example, the U.S. Agency for Global Media (USAGM) awards Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty a grant that funds work globally. Officials from USAGM said that as a U.S. not-for-profit organization, Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty, maintains corporate headquarters in Washington, D.C., but, as an international media organization, maintains many offices abroad. USAGM reports the *Primary Place of Performance Address* as Washington, D.C. because it is where the organization maintains its corporate office, but much of the performance takes place in other locations.

In another example, the Department of Health and Human Services' (HHS) Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) reports the *Primary Place of Performance Address* for Medicare payment data as the county of its payment processing centers, even though each processing center makes payments to recipients in multiple states and counties. CMS contracts with Medicare Administrative Contractors (MAC) to process and pay Medicare fee-for-service claims. For each type of Medicare claim, the number of jurisdictions and the number of MACs that handle that type of claim vary.⁴⁴ At the time of our review, there were 12 jurisdictions for Medicare Part A and B claims handled by MACs. As shown in figure 5, the jurisdictions are made up of multiple states.

⁴⁴We previously reported on provider education programs at Medicare Administrative Contractors. For more information see GAO, *Medicare Provider Education: Oversight of Efforts to Reduce Improper Billing Needs Improvement,* GAO-17-290 (Washington, D.C.: Mar. 10, 2017).



Figure 5: Part A and B Medicare Administrative Contractor Jurisdictions

Source: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) www.cms.gov Medicare-Contracting AB-Jurisdiction Map, 6/2019. | GAO-20-75

In addition to the MAC jurisdictions for Medicare Part A and Part B claims, there were four home health and hospice jurisdictions and four durable medical equipment jurisdictions. Thus, there are 20 MAC jurisdictions, almost all of which covered multiple states. As a result, the spending for Medicare payments is reported in a small number of counties instead of where the beneficiaries of Medicare services are located.

• **Software.** Officials from three agencies in our review said that it is challenging to determine *Primary Place of Performance Address* for software licenses when purchased as a service. For example, there

could be multiple performance locations, but none of these locations are predominant.

Large or undefined locations. Officials from the agencies in our review reported challenges in meeting the standard for reporting large or undefined performance locations. For example, officials from the Delta Regional Authority said that it was difficult, at times, to determine the Primary Place of Performance Address for watersheds because they can cover a large area and cross multiple jurisdictions. Officials from the National Science Foundation (NSF) said that for projects that may not have a single location, they report the location that corresponds to the research asset's physical location or the primary site. For example, for a research vessel, NSF officials report the awardee's address, which is generally the vessel's homeport as the Primary Place of Performance Address. In another example, NASA officials said that when they let contracts for services performed on the International Space Center, they report the command center in Houston as the Primary Place of Performance Address.

For some of these non-routine locations, the FPDS-NG data dictionary provides guidance for procurement transactions. For example, for services being performed in oceans and seas, it directs agencies to report the closest U.S. city. For services being performed in the atmosphere or space, the FPDS-NG Data dictionary directs agencies to report the location from which the equipment conducting the services was launched. However, the *DATA Act Information Model Schema* (DAIMS) *Data Dictionary* does not include the same level of detailed guidance for reporting financial assistance awards and directs agency officials to report the location where the predominant performance of the award will be accomplished.

Officials from several agencies said it would be helpful for OMB and Treasury to issue guidance on *Primary Place of Performance Address* for financial assistance awards to help agencies report this information consistent with the established standard. In the absence of more specific guidance, agencies are using different decision rules to identify the *Primary Place of Performance Address* for financial assistance awards which could limit the usefulness of this information to the public.

We previously identified similar issues with *Award Description* and *Primary Place of Performance Address* on USAspending.gov. We recommended that OMB and Treasury provide agencies with additional guidance to address potential clarity, consistency, or quality issues with

	the definitions for specific data elements including <i>Award Description</i> and <i>Primary Place of Performance Address</i> and that they clearly document and communicate these actions to agencies providing these data as well as to end-users. ⁴⁵ OMB issued guidance in June 2018 which provides clarification on reporting requirements for some data element definitions. ⁴⁶
	However, additional guidance is needed to clarify how agencies are to report spending data using standardized data element definitions that may be open to more than one interpretation, and then broadly communicate this information to agencies and the public. We continue to believe additional guidance is needed to facilitate agency implementation of certain data definitions to produce consistent and comparable information. Given the challenges we identified in this report and in previous reports with <i>Award Description</i> and <i>Primary Place of Performance Address</i> , we have concerns about whether the guidance OMB issued provides sufficient detail for agencies to consistently interpret and implement the definitions. See app. IV for more information on the status of this recommendation.
Known Data Limitations Are Not Transparent to Users of USAspending.gov	Treasury does not fully disclose all known data limitations on USAspending.gov. According to OMB guidance, federal agencies should be transparent about the quality of information and identify the limitations of the data they disseminate to the public. ⁴⁷ Further, Treasury's <i>Information Quality Guidelines</i> state that, when disseminating information to the public, information should be presented within the proper context to

⁴⁶Office of Management and Budget, *Appendix A to OMB Circular No. A-123, Management of Reporting and Data Integrity Risk*, OMB Memorandum M-18-16 (Washington, D.C.: June 6, 2018).

⁴⁷Office of Management and Budget, *Policies for Federal Agency Public Websites and Digital Services,* OMB Memorandum M-17-06 (Washington, D.C.: Nov 8, 2016).

⁴⁵GAO-18-138. See also, GAO, DATA Act: Data Standards Established, but More Complete and Timely Guidance Is Needed to Ensure Effective Implementation. GAO-16-261 (Washington, D.C.: Jan. 29, 2016), and Data Transparency: Oversight Needed to Address Underreporting and Inconsistencies on Federal Award Website, GAO-14-476 (Washington, D.C.: June 30, 2014).

disseminate information in an accurate, clear, complete, and unbiased manner.⁴⁸

In November 2017, we identified data quality limitations that were not disclosed on USAspending.gov. We recommended that Treasury disclose known data quality issues and limitations on USAspending.gov.⁴⁹ Treasury agreed with this recommendation and has taken steps to better disclose some of these limitations, but many of the issues we identified in 2017 continue to present challenges.⁵⁰ Some of these challenges apply widely, while others were specific to particular agencies. They include the following:

• Data not submitted or incomplete. One step taken by Treasury to improve disclosure was to create a webpage in USAspending.gov that provides information on unreported data. However, it is unclear exactly what this information covers. For example, it is unclear whether the information on unreported data includes financing accounts, agencies that should have reported but did not submit data, missing data for agencies that did submit, or spending that was not reported because obligation amounts fell below \$25,000 and was therefore not required to be reported.⁵¹ As a result, users do not clearly know what data are unreported or the amount that was required to be reported.

⁵¹Financing accounts are nonbudgetary accounts associated with each credit program that holds balances, receives payments, and includes cash flows resulting from direct loan obligations or loan guarantee commitments made on or after fiscal year 1992. They are reported to Treasury via the Government-wide Treasury Account Symbol Adjusted Trial Balance System SF 133, but are not required to be reported under the DATA Act. According to Treasury officials, the unreported amount on USAspending.gov includes these financing accounts.

⁴⁸Treasury's *Information Quality Guidelines* can be found at https://www.treasury.gov/about/organizational-structure/offices/Mgt/Pages/infoguide.aspx.

⁴⁹GAO-18-138. See app. IV for more information on the status of this recommendation.

⁵⁰We also previously reported that USAspending.gov did not sufficiently communicate or disclose information on another issue. Although Treasury did include senior accountable officials' (SAO) certification statements on the website, the files containing these statements were not labeled or described anywhere on the website in a way to indicate their purpose. Therefore, we recommended that Treasury make the SAO certifications more accessible and evident to users of USAspending.gov. Treasury agreed with this recommendation and, in December 2017, responded by relabeling all SAO certification statement files from "data.yml" to "Quarterly Assurance Statement" and included additional information on the "About" page regarding the purpose and use of SAO certifications.

• Optional data elements and subelements. Another issue we identified in 2017 and found again in our current review was that key information about the reporting requirements for some data elements and subelements was not adequately disclosed to the public. Specifically, for Q4 FY2018 certain data elements were listed in guidance as optional for agencies to report. According to Treasury officials, agencies were not required to report these data elements because the data standard was not fully implemented. For example, prior to fiscal year 2019, the data element *Funding Office Name* was optional for financial assistance awards. Additionally, as of September 2019, *Period of Performance Start Date* and *Period of Performance Current End Date* remained optional for reporting pending government-wide agreement on the standard.

USAspending.gov does offer some information regarding optional data elements by providing a link to the DAIMS Reporting Submission Specifications document.⁵² However, this document is not labeled in a way that would make it clear to the user what information can be found there. Moreover, some agencies may voluntarily submit data for optional fields so only partial information for optional data elements may be displayed on USAspending.gov. Because data limitations related to optional data elements are not prominently displayed on USAspending.gov, users may not know which data elements or subelements are potentially incomplete.

A more systematic approach for identifying and disclosing known data limitations on USAspending.gov—including procedures for addressing wide ranging issues such as communicating changes in the reporting requirements for certain data elements and information about data that may be unreported or incomplete—could help users of the data better understand potential quality issues with particular data elements and sources, and how to appropriately interpret the data.⁵³ While Treasury has taken steps to better disclose data limitations, it needs to take further action to implement a more systematic approach, in line with our 2017 recommendation.

⁵²The DAIMS Reporting Submission Specifications is a human-readable version of the data standards. It includes a listing of the data elements with specific instructions for federal agencies to submit content in the appropriate format.

⁵³In a July 2019 report, the Treasury IG found similar issues and recommended the Fiscal Assistant Secretary enhance generic disclaimers on USAspending.gov and expand the use of limitation statements on pages with known and potential display issues so that the public clearly understands known limitations when using the data as displayed and available for download. Treasury agreed with the Treasury IG's recommendation.

In addition to such broader challenges, we identified two specific data limitations involving DOD and HHS:

• Delay in availability of DOD procurement data. A third issue we identified in our 2017 review, and again in our current review, concerns how information on DOD procurement data is presented on USAspending.gov. Specifically, information related to a 90-day delay in data availability for DOD procurement awards is not posted on USAspending.gov. FPDS-NG—which collects information on contract actions for display on USAspending.gov—releases DOD-reported procurement data to the public after a 90-day waiting period to help ensure the security of these data before they are released to the public. This also results in a 90-day delay in reporting these data to USAspending.gov. FPDS-NG clearly states that DOD data are subject to a 90-day delay as seen in figure 6.



Figure 6: Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG) Page on Department of Defense Data Availability

Source: GAO presentation of https://www.fpds.gov/common/html/dodDataAvailability.html, (emphasis added). | GAO-20-75

While DOD reports this data limitation in its senior accountable official certification statement, it is not presented prominently to users who are viewing DOD's spending data. For example, DOD's delay in data availability is not presented on DOD's agency profile page or with queries on specific transactions associated with DOD. Until such information is transparently communicated, users of USAspending.gov who access
DOD procurement data directly or as a result of broader government-wide searches are likely unaware that the information may be incomplete or not comparable.

Medicare payment data. Additionally, in this review we found • limitations in how Medicare payment data are made available to the public. According to HHS officials. CMS reports the Primary Place of *Performance Address* for Medicare payment data as the county for the applicable Medicare Administrative Contractor (MAC) because the MAC is the direct recipient of the agency's contract award. As a result, Medicare spending data on USAspending.gov are not reported in the county where the Medicare beneficiaries are located. There are more than 3,200 counties and county equivalents in the United States and Puerto Rico, but only 20 Medicare MAC jurisdictions. Although Medicare payments may reach every county in the country, the users of USAspending.gov will only see this spending in the counties in which a MAC is located. We found that this information is not described on USAspending.gov. HHS officials said that they identified this limitation to the transparency of Medicare payment data to Treasury in 2016. They suggested that Treasury add information about how Medicare payments are reported on USAspending gov to avoid confusion for users of the data. However, at that time, Treasury determined that it was unnecessary to provide this additional information on USAspending.gov. Until such information is transparently communicated, it will be unclear to the user that Medicare payments are consolidated in the counties where MACs are located.

Fully Implementing Data Governance Consistent with Key Practices Would Improve Data Quality	
Enforcing the Consistent Application of Data Standards across the Federal Government Would Improve Data Quality	One of the purposes of the DATA Act is to establish government-wide data standards to provide consistent and comparable data that are displayed accurately for taxpayers and policymakers on USAspending.gov. ⁵⁴ As we have reported previously, establishing a data governance structure—an institutionalized set of policies and procedures for providing data governance throughout the life cycle of developing and implementing data standards—is critical for ensuring that the integrity of data standards is maintained over time. ⁵⁵ Such a structure, if properly implemented, would greatly increase the likelihood that the data made available to the public will be accurate.
	and maintaining data standards that are consistent with leading practices for data governance. ⁵⁶ This recommendation has not been implemented. Having formalized policies and procedures in place for one of these key practices—managing, controlling, monitoring, and enforcing the consistent application of data standards once they are established—could

⁵⁴Pub. L. No. 113-101, § 2(2), 128 Stat. 1146, 1146 (May 9, 2014).

⁵⁵GAO, DATA Act: OMB and Treasury Have Issued Additional Guidance and Have Improved Pilot Design but Implementation Challenges Remain, GAO-17-156 (Washington, D.C.: Dec. 8, 2016).

⁵⁶GAO-17-156. Key practices for data governance include (1) developing and approving data standards; (2) managing, controlling, monitoring, and enforcing consistent application of data standards; (3) making decisions about changes to existing data standards and resolving conflicts related to the application of data standards; (4) obtaining input from stakeholders and involving them in key decisions, as appropriate; and (5) delineating roles and responsibilities for decision-making and accountability, including roles and responsibilities for stakeholder input on key decisions.

help address some of the data quality challenges we identified in this and previous reviews.⁵⁷

As described earlier, agencies experience challenges reporting *Award Description* and *Primary Place of Performance Address*. We continue to believe that having a robust data governance structure that includes policies and procedures for enforcing the consistent application of the established standards would lead to greater consistency and comparability of reporting for data elements, such as *Award Description* and *Primary Place of Performance Address*.

Efforts Continue to Develop a Robust Data Governance Structure to Ensure the Integrity of Data Standards

OMB and Treasury have established some procedures for governing the data standards established under the DATA Act, but a robust governance structure has yet to be fully developed and operational. Since the enactment of the DATA Act in 2014, OMB has relied on a shifting array of advisory bodies to obtain input on data standards. In March 2019, we reported that the governing bodies involved in initial implementation efforts had been disbanded, and that their data governance functions were to be accomplished within the broader context of the cross-agency priority (CAP) goals established under the 2018 President's Management Agenda (PMA).⁵⁸ Since we issued our report, OMB has taken additional steps to develop a government-wide data structure and to establish data governance programs at each agency. OMB staff told us that they envision agencies as incubators of data governance where they can learn lessons on data governance. Toward that end, OMB, in collaboration with other interagency groups, has taken a number of steps to further develop data governance at both the agency and government-wide levels:

 In October 2019, OMB issued a set of grants management data standards under the *Results Oriented Accountability for Grants* CAP Goal. According to OMB staff, they received more than 1,100 public comments on draft standard data elements which were released for public comment in November 2018.

⁵⁷GAO-17-156 and GAO-18-138.

⁵⁸GAO-19-284.

- OMB issued a memorandum in April 2019 that outlines approaches to shared services and the governance structure established to support shared services used for data reporting.⁵⁹
- In June 2019, as part of the CAP Goal Leveraging Data as a Strategic Asset, OMB issued the draft 2019-2020 Federal Data Strategy Action Plan (Action Plan). This document identifies both government-wide and agency-level action steps for improving data governance. To address government-wide data governance, the Action Plan calls for improvement in the standards for financial management data and geospatial data. The Action Plan directs agencies to establish a body of internal stakeholders responsible for data governance. These bodies will be made up of senior level staff and be responsible for assessing agency capability and ensuring monitoring and compliance with policies and standards related to data. Agencies are also instructed to assess data and related infrastructure maturity, identify opportunities to increase staff data skills, and identify data needs to answer key agency questions.
- OMB also issued initial guidance in July 2019 to support agency efforts to implement the first phase of the Evidence Act.⁶⁰ For example, the Evidence Act requires, among other things, agencies to designate a Chief Data Officer by July 13, 2019. OMB also guidance directs agencies to establish a data governance body, chaired by the Chief Data Officer, with participation from relevant senior-level staff from agency business units, data functions, and financial management by September 30, 2019.
- In July 2019, the Federal Data Strategy Team issued a data governance playbook.⁶¹ According to OMB officials, this playbook is not guidance, but is meant to be a framework for agency-level data governance accompanied by forthcoming resources. OMB staff told us that updates to the playbook would come relatively quickly, but also said they had no planned time frames for doing so.

⁵⁹Office of Management and Budget, *Centralized Mission Support Capabilities for the Federal Government*, M-19-16 (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 26, 2019).

⁶⁰Office of Management and Budget, *Phase 1 Implementation of the Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018: Learning Agendas, Personnel, and Planning Guidance*, M-19-23 (Washington, D.C.: July 10, 2019).

⁶¹Federal Data Strategy Team, *A Playbook in Support of the Federal Data Strategy: Getting Started on Prioritizing Data Governance and Assessing Maturity* (Washington, D.C.: 2019). The Federal Data Strategy Team is an interagency group that includes representatives from OMB, Commerce, and the Small Business Administration, among others.

Agencies Have Taken Initial Steps to Implement Data Governance Programs and Data Quality Plans

Agencies have taken initial steps to establish data governance programs and develop data quality plans. As of September 2019, seven of the 30 agencies included in our review reported that they have taken steps to designate a Chief Data Officer as required by the Evidence Act.⁶² Twenty reported establishing internal bodies similar to the data governance bodies as directed by OMB guidance.⁶³ The make-up and function of data governance bodies varies across agencies. The Department of Labor reported its Data Board was formalized and that the acting Chief Data Officer had become the official Chief Data Officer. The U.S. Agency for International Development reported establishing a DATA Act Governance Council to facilitate the effective implementation of the DATA Act. Other agencies reported similarly structured bodies referred to as working groups, steering committees, and consortiums.

As of September 2019, 19 agencies reported that they have completed a data quality plan as required by OMB Memorandum, M-18-16.⁶⁴ Nine agencies that do not have a data quality plan will have one completed by September 30, 2019. The data quality plans from the agencies in our sample varied in scope and content. Features of data quality plans we reviewed included a description of a data governance board, an assessment of existing and planned internal controls for data quality, and determination of priority data elements based on assessments of risk of data quality issues.

For example, the Departments of Commerce and the Interior each conducted a risk assessment on the likelihood and consequence of improper reporting for assistance and procurement data. They will employ strategies or controls to mitigate risks related to the highest risk elements. Similarly, Treasury named targeted data elements based on their relevancy and further assessed the risk of improper reporting of each element based on existing internal controls.

Agencies in our review reported using a variety of sources of guidance in developing their data quality plans, including the *Data Quality Playbook*

⁶³M-19-23.

⁶²44 U.S.C. § 3520.

⁶⁴Office of Management and Budget, *Appendix A to OMB Circular No. A-123, Management of Reporting and Data Integrity Risk*, OMB Memorandum M-18-16 (Washington, D.C.: June 6, 2018).

issued by the Leveraging Data as a Strategic Asset Working Group in November 2018, OMB Circular M-18-16, and guidance on conducting required reviews under the DATA Act from the Council of inspector general for Integrity and Efficiency.⁶⁵ While some agencies in our review reported that the information from these sources was helpful, they also noted the need for additional guidance, including help understanding the reporting requirements for certain data elements.

Conclusions

In the 5 years since enactment, OMB, Treasury, and federal agencies have made significant strides to address many of the policy, technical, and reporting challenges presented by the DATA Act's requirements. We found improvements in the overall quality of the data on USAspending.gov compared to our 2017 review of data quality. To continue moving forward with this progress and to fully realize the DATA Act's promise of helping to improve data accuracy and transparency, more needs to be done to address continued challenges with the completeness and accuracy of key data elements. For example, OMB and Treasury have not fully addressed our recommendations to monitor agency submissions and ensure agencies are accountable for the completeness and accuracy of their data submissions.

In addition, without the transparent disclosure of known data limitations, users may view, download, or analyze data made available on the website without full knowledge of the extent to which the data are timely, complete, accurate, or comparable over time. This could lead users to inadvertently draw inaccurate information or conclusions from the data. We have previously recommended that Treasury disclose known data limitations on USAspending.gov. The agency has taken some steps toward this goal. However, as we have shown, work remains for Treasury to develop a more systematic approach for disclosing known data limitations on its website. In the meantime, we believe it is important to address the specific data limitations we identify in this report. These include the need to provide users with information about the delay in the availability of DOD procurement data, and how Medicare payment data are reported.

⁶⁵Federal Audit Executive Council, Council of Inspectors General for Integrity and Efficiency, *CIGIE FAEC Inspectors General Guide to Compliance under the DATA Act* (Washington, D.C.: Feb. 14, 2019).

	Finally, the challenges we have found with data completeness and accuracy, and the transparency around data limitations also demonstrate the importance of continued progress by OMB and Treasury in addressing our previous open recommendations to develop a robust and transparent data governance structure, and implement controls for monitoring agency compliance with DATA Act requirements.
Recommendations for Executive Action	We maintain that OMB and Treasury should address our prior recommendations on DATA Act implementation, including recommendations on monitoring agency submissions, providing additional guidance on reporting established data standards, implementing a systematic approach to facilitate the disclosure of known data limitations on USAspending.gov, and developing a robust and transparent governance structure. We are making a total of two new recommendations to Treasury regarding the disclosure on USAspending.gov of specific known data limitations:
	The Secretary of the Treasury should ensure that information about the 90-day delay for displaying DOD procurement data on USAspending.gov is transparently communicated to users of the site. Approaches for doing this could include prominently displaying this information on the DOD agency profile page, in the unreported data section, and in search results that include DOD data. (Recommendation 1)
	The Secretary of the Treasury should ensure that information regarding how the <i>Primary Place of Performance Address</i> for Medicare payment data are reported is transparently communicated to the users of USAspending.gov. (Recommendation 2)
Agency Comments	We provided a draft of this report to the Departments of Agriculture (USDA), Defense (DOD), Commerce, Education, Health and Human Services (HHS), Homeland Security, the Interior (DOI), Labor (DOL), the Treasury, and Veterans Affairs (VA); the Office of Management and Budget (OMB); the National Science Foundation (NSF); the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA); the Small Business Administration (SBA); the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID); the U.S. Agency for Global Media (USAGM); and the Delta Regional Authority (DRA) for review and comment. USAID and Treasury provided written responses, which are summarized below and reproduced in appendixes VII and VIII, respectively. DHS and OMB provided technical comments, which we incorporated as appropriate. USDA, DOD,

Commerce, Education, HHS, DOI, DOL, VA, NSF, NASA, SBA, USAGM, and DRA had no comments on the draft report.

In its written comments, USAID stated that it is committed to DATA Act reporting and the accessibility and transparency of its spending data. In its written comments, Treasury stated its commitment to fully realizing the DATA Act's promise of helping to improve data accuracy and transparency. Treasury agreed with our two recommendations on the disclosure of specific known data limitations and stated that it will work with HHS and DOD to implement them in the coming months. Treasury also stated that it remains committed to fully implementing our prior recommendations on DATA Act implementation.

We are sending copies of this report to the relevant congressional committees; the Secretaries of Agriculture, Defense, Commerce, Education, Homeland Security, the Interior, Labor, the Treasury, and Veterans Affairs; the Directors of the Office of Management and Budget and the National Science Foundation; the Administrators of National Aeronautics and Space Administration, the Small Business Administration, and U.S. Agency for International Development; the Chief Executive Officer of the U.S. Agency for Global Media; the Chairman of the Delta Regional Authority; and other interested parties. In addition, the report is available at no charge on the GAO website at http://www.gao.gov.

If you or your staff has any questions about this report, please contact Michelle Sager at (202) 512-6806 or sagerm@gao.gov or Paula M. Rascona at (202) 512-9816 or rasconap@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of our report. Key contributors to this report are listed in app. IX.

Michelf Logs

Michelle Sager Director, Strategic Issues

Paula M Rascom

Paula M. Rascona Director, Financial Management and Assurance

List of Addresses

The Honorable Ron Johnson Chairman The Honorable Gary C. Peters Ranking Member Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs United States Senate

The Honorable Rob Portman Chairman The Honorable Thomas R. Carper Ranking Member Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs United States Senate

The Honorable Carolyn B. Maloney Acting Chairwoman The Honorable Jim Jordan Ranking Member Committee on Oversight and Reform House of Representatives

The Honorable Gerald E. Connolly Chairman The Honorable Mark Meadows Ranking Member Subcommittee on Government Operations Committee on Oversight and Reform House of Representatives

The Honorable Mark R. Warner United States Senate

Appendix I: List of Agencies and Number of Transactions in Our Sample

	File B (Budgetary)	File D1 (Procurement)	File D2 (Financial Assistance)	Total transactions
Chief	Financial Officer Act of	1990 Agencies		
Department of Agriculture	9	1	31	41
Department of Commerce	6	-	2	8
Department of Defense	19	120	-	139
Department of Education	2	-	18	20
Department of Energy	2	-	-	2
Department of Health and Human Services	14	2	4	20
Department of Homeland Security	4	6	2	12
Department of Housing and Urban Development	1	-	38	39
Department of the Interior	5	2	-	7
Department of Justice	2	9	2	13
Department of Labor	8	-	-	8
Department of State	1	3	1	5
Department of Transportation	5	1	7	13
Department of the Treasury	3	2	-	5
Department of Veterans Affairs	3	3	19	25
Environmental Protection Agency	1	1	-	2
National Aeronautics and Space Administration	2	1	2	5
U.S. Agency for International Development	2	-	2	4
General Services Administration	-	5	-	5
National Science Foundation	1	-	2	3
Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) ^a	-	-	-	0
Office of Personnel Management	1	-	-	1
Small Business Administration	1	-	7	8
Social Security Administration	-	1	10	11
	Small Agencies	6		
U. S. Agency for Global Media ^b	-	1	-	1
Delta Regional Authority	1	-	-	1
Executive Office of the President, Office of Administration	1	-	-	1
Federal Election Commission	1	-	-	1

	File B (Budgetary)	File D1 (Procurement)	File D2 (Financial Assistance)	Total transactions
Merit Systems Protection Board	1	-	-	1
Peace Corps	1	-	-	1
Railroad Retirement Board	-	-	3	3
Totals	97	158	150	405

Source: GAO. | GAO-20-75

^aNRC is the only Chief Financial Officer Act of 1990 agency that did not have any transactions selected as part of our random sample.

^bThe Broadcasting Board of Governors changed its name to the U.S. Agency for Global Media in August 2018.

Appendix II: Objectives, Scope, and Methodology

The Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) requires that we report on the timeliness, completeness, accuracy, and quality of the data submitted under the act and the implementation and use of data standards.¹ This review responds to the act's requirement by addressing the following: (1) the timeliness, completeness, accuracy, and quality of the data and the implementation and use of data standards; and (2) the extent to which progress has been made to develop a data governance structure consistent with key practices, and how it affects data quality. We also update the status of select implementation issues and our previous recommendations related to implementing the DATA Act and data transparency.

To assess the timeliness, completeness, accuracy, and quality of the data submitted and the implementation and use of data standards, we analyzed agency submission files for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 (Q4 FY2018) on USAspending.gov and reviewed a representative stratified random sample from the Department of the Treasury's (Treasury) USAspending.gov database download for Q4 FY2018.

Specifically, to assess timeliness, we accessed agency submission files on USAspending.gov for Q4 FY2018 and determined whether agencies submitted their data by the established deadline—45 days after the end of the quarter or November 14, 2018—based on the date agencies certified their submissions. To help understand the proportion of spending that agencies reported by the due date, we obtained and analyzed a file from Treasury containing SF 133 Report on Budget Execution and Budgetary Resources (SF 133) data—which includes unaudited balances reported by agencies—for Q4 FY2018. These obligation balances are only used for illustrative purposes in our report. They include financing accounts, among other things, which are not required to be reported under the DATA Act.

To assess completeness, we determined whether (1) all agencies that determined they are required to or would voluntarily submit DATA Act files did so, (2) the transactions reported in the files submitted by agencies contained all required data for that transaction, and (3) the database contained required assistance award data from the 24 Chief

¹Pub. L. No. 113-101, § 3, 128 Stat. 1146, 1151–1152 (May 9, 2014). The DATA Act amended the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA). Pub. L. No. 109-282, 120 Stat. 1186 (Sept. 26, 2006), *codified at* 31 U.S.C. § 6101 note.

Financial Officers Act of 1990 (CFO Act) agencies.² To determine whether all agencies that should have reported Q4 FY2018 data did so, we compared Treasury's list of agencies that determined they were required to or would voluntarily report data to the agency file submissions on USAspending.gov for Q4 FY2018. We followed up with agencies that had not reported to find out the reasons for not reporting, but we did not verify the accuracy of their responses.

To assess the completeness of files submitted by agencies, we accessed the agency submission files for Q4 FY2018 available on USAspending.gov and determined whether all files for each agency contained data (i.e., were not blank). We followed up with agencies that submitted a blank File C and/or File D1 that did not contain any data to find out why the files were blank, but we did not verify the accuracy of their responses. We also made inquiries of agencies to determine whether any agency components or systems did not submit data. Finally, we tested completeness of agency submissions through our sample testing, described in detail below.

To assess the completeness of assistance data in the USAspending.gov database, we determined the extent to which federal agencies were reporting required award data based on a list of potential award-making agencies/programs from Assistance Listings on beta.SAM.gov, formerly the Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance. We identified all programs listed in the Assistance Listings, as of September 2018. For the 24 CFO Act agencies only, we compared programs listed in the Assistance Listings to data in the USAspending.gov database to determine which programs reported information on at least one assistance award for fiscal year 2018. For any program reporting no assistance award information for the year, we asked agency officials why information was not reported. For all programs that agency officials determined either made an award but did not report it, or reported awards late to USAspending.gov, we extracted the agencies' obligation estimates for fiscal year 2018 as reported in the Assistance Listings.

To further assess completeness of the data and to assess accuracy of the data and the implementation and use of data standards, we extracted all records included in the scope of our review from a database used to display data on USAspending.gov. The records covered activity during

²31 U.S.C. § 901(b).

Q4 FY2018 (July through September 2018).³ To extract all records from the database, we mapped the database fields to the data elements within the scope of our audit.⁴

Once we had the data within the scope of our audit for Q4 FY2018, we performed the following steps:

Sampling data to determine completeness and accuracy: From the database we extracted, we selected a stratified random probability sample of 405 records for Q4 FY2018. Data records were stratified into procurement award transactions, assistance award transactions, and budgetary records. We randomly selected 158 procurement awards, 150 financial awards, and 97 budgetary records. Estimates for the results of the procurement, assistance, and budgetary samples have sampling errors of +/- 7.8, 8, and 10 percentage points or less, respectively, at the 95 percent level of confidence. The probability sample was designed to estimate the overall rate of reporting errors for a data element with a sampling error of no greater than plus or minus 5.3 percentage points at the 95 percent level of confidence. Because we followed a probability procedure based on random selections, our sample is only one of a large number of samples that we might have drawn. Since each sample could have provided different estimates, we express our confidence in the precision of our particular sample's results as a 95 percent confidence interval (e.g., +/- 7 percentage points). This is the interval that would contain the actual population value for 95 percent of the samples we could have drawn. For 41 data elements and subelements required by FFATA or the DATA Act, we first assessed the extent to which a data element was complete-whether there was a value and if that value was appropriate. If the data element was not complete, then we also considered that data element to not be accurate. For those elements that were complete, we then assessed the extent to which the data were accurate by comparing the information in our sample to the information contained in the originating agency's underlying source

³Our sample was selected from the USAspending.gov database snapshot as of February 11, 2019, at which point 89 agencies, including ourselves, had submitted files. We excluded ourselves from our sample. GAO's Office of Inspector General (OIG) will assessed the quality of our data in accordance with the mandate for OIG reviews of agency data. The report is available at https://www.gao.gov/products/OIG-19-2.

⁴Treasury has not developed a crosswalk that maps the database fields to defined data elements defined by the Office of Management and Budget (OMB). As such, we had to perform this exercise independently based upon the documentation available.

documents, where available, and determining whether the data were consistent with applicable laws and reporting standards, as applicable. Therefore we determined an element was inconsistent if it was either inconsistent with the agency documents, applicable laws or reporting standards, or incomplete. For three data elements that contained values derived by Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG) and Financial Assistance Broker Submission (FABS) based on other values provided by agencies, we compared the information in the sample to other sources, such as data from the U.S. Census Bureau and house.gov.⁵ This allowed us to verify whether the values in our sample were consistent with the systems from which they were derived. We then interviewed agency officials to discuss differences between the information in our sample and information in agency or other sources.

• Data element and subelement testing: Table 3 shows the 44 data elements and subelements tested in the statistical sample—including six budgetary data elements and 38 award data elements and subelements. Individual data elements may vary with their representation in the sample (e.g. Legal Entity Address Lines 1 and 2) because the data element was not required for all of the sampled data records. Specific error rates by category can be found in app. III.

Data elements and subelements	Category	Sample representation
Treasury Account Symbol ^a	Budgetary	97
Object Class ^b	Budgetary	97
Program Activity ^c	Budgetary	97
Obligations ^d	Budgetary	97
Outlays ^e	Budgetary	97
Unobligated Balance	Budgetary	97
Award Identification Number ^{f,g}	Procurement and Assistance	308
Award modification/amendment number	Procurement and Assistance	308
Action Date	Procurement and Assistance	308

 Table 3: Data Elements and Number of Records Tested in Our Sample, Fourth

 Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018

⁵The three data elements and subelements are *Legal Entity County Name*, *Primary Place* of *Performance County Name*, and *Primary Place of Performance Congressional District*.

Data elements and subelements	Category	Sample representation
Action Type ⁹	Procurement and Assistance	308
Award Type	Procurement and Assistance	
Type of Contract Pricing	Procurement	158
Indefinite Delivery Vehicle Type	Procurement	158
Contract Award Type	Procurement	158
Assistance Type	Assistance	150
Award Description	Procurement and Assistance	308
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number	Assistance	150
North American Industrial Classification System Code	Procurement	158
Parent Award ID Number ⁹	Procurement	158
Federal Action Obligation	Procurement and Assistance	308
Original Loan Subsidy Cost ⁹	Assistance	150
Current Total Value of Award	Procurement	158
Face Value of Direct Loan or Loan Guarantee ⁹	Assistance	150
Potential Total Value of Award ⁹	Procurement	158
Awardee/Recipient Legal Entity Name	Procurement and Assistance	308
Legal Entity Address		
Address Lines 1 and 2 ^{h,i}	Procurement and Assistance	276
City Name ^j	Procurement and Assistance	308
County Name ^k	Assistance (Aggregates only)	32
State Name ^l	Procurement and Assistance	308
Zip Code ^{h,m}	Procurement and Assistance	276
Legal Entity Country Name	Procurement and Assistance	308
Period of Performance Start Date ⁹	Procurement and Assistance	308
Period of Performance Current End Date ⁹	Procurement and Assistance	308
Period of Performance Potential End Date ⁹	Procurement	158
Primary Place of Performance Address		
City Name ^h	Procurement and Assistance	276
County Name ^k	Procurement and Assistance	308
State Name	Procurement and Assistance	308
Zip Code (first 5) ^{h,n}	Procurement and Assistance	276

Data elements and subelements	Category	Sample representation
Zip Code (last 4) ^{h,n}	Procurement and Assistance	276
Primary Place of Performance Congressional District ^k	Procurement and Assistance	308
Primary Place of Performance Country Name	Procurement and Assistance	308
Funding Agency Name	Procurement and Assistance	308
Funding Office Name ^{g,o}	Procurement and Assistance	308
Awarding Agency Name ^o	Procurement and Assistance	308
Awarding Office Name ^{9,0}	Procurement and Assistance	308

Sources: GAO analysis of Treasury and Office of Management and Budget DATA Act guidance and GAO sample. | GAO-20-75 ^a*Treasury Account Symbol* consists of seven subelements.

^bObject Class consists of two subelements.

^cProgram Activity consists of two subelements.

^dObligations consists of 15 subelements.

^eOutlays consists of 16 subelements.

^fAward Identification Number consists of three subelements under DATA Act Information Model Schema (DAIMS) version 1.3 (Procurement Instrument Identifier for procurement awards, Federal Award Identification Number for financial assistance awards, and Unique Record Identifier for aggregate awards).

⁹Element was not tested in our second quarter of fiscal year 2017 sample.

^hTotals for some procurement and assistance award data elements do not equal 308 because some data elements, such as *Primary Place of Performance City Name*, *Legal Entity Address Lines 1 and 2*, and *Legal Entity Address City Name* are not required for reporting aggregate awards.

¹Legal Entity Address Lines 1 and 2 refers to two separate subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (Legal Entity Address Line 1 and Legal Entity Address Line 2), which we combined for reporting purposes.

¹Legal Entity Address City Name refers to two subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (*Legal Entity Address City Name* and *Foreign City Name*), which we combined for reporting purposes.

^kLegal Entity County Name, Primary Place of Performance County Name, and Primary Place of Performance Congressional District were derived by Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG) and Financial Assistance Broker Submission (FABS) rather than provided by agencies so we compared the values in the sample for these elements to other sources rather than to agency documents.

¹Legal Entity Address State Name refers to three subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (Legal Entity Address State Description for procurement awards and Legal Entity Address State Name and Foreign Province Name for financial assistance awards), which we combined for reporting purposes.

^mLegal Entity Address Zip Code refers to four subelements under DAIMS 1.3 (Legal Entity Address Zip+4 for procurement awards, Legal Entity Address Zip 5 and Last 4 for financial assistance awards, and Legal Entity Address Foreign Postal Code for foreign financial assistance awards), which we combined for reporting purposes.

ⁿ*Primary Place of Performance Address Zip Code* is one subelement under DAIMS 1.3 (*Primary Place of Performance Address Zip+4*), which contains both the first five digits from the zip code and the last 4. However, the USAspending.gov database we obtained our sample from contained the zip code information for this element in two parts: 5 digit zip code and +4. Therefore, we present these subelements separately for reporting purposes.

°Element was optional for fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018.

The government-wide results are a weighted total of the three strata of our sample: (1) procurement award transactions, (2) assistance award transactions, and (3) budgetary records. For reporting purposes, we combined some of the results for the award strata because some data elements appear in both Files D1 (procurement) and D2 (financial assistance). See app. I for the list of agencies and number of records randomly selected and tested in each strata.

If we determined, after reviewing agency source documents, that a data element was not applicable to the sampled record, we did not factor the data element into our evaluation of completeness and accuracy. We determined an element to be unverifiable if no agency source records were provided or the records provided did not meet our audit standards.

To test the controls over the reliability of agency data, we obtained supporting documentation to confirm that the agency provided only official agency source documents, such as a system of records notice. When such a supporting document was unavailable, we reviewed agency transparency policy documentation, data verification and validation plans or procedures, or system source code information to ensure the reliability of the data. We did not assess the accuracy of the data contained in sources provided by agencies. For the purposes of our review, we defined data quality as encompassing the concepts of timeliness, completeness, and accuracy. Therefore, our assessment of overall data quality is reflected in our specific assessments of these components.

We also reviewed OMB, Treasury, and agency documents related to DATA Act implementation. We interviewed OMB and Treasury officials on their role in DATA Act implementation and interviewed officials from the agencies in our sample to discuss their test results and efforts to submit data under the DATA Act.

To describe changes in data quality since our prior work, we compared the results of our review of Q4 FY2018 data to the results of our review of quarter two fiscal year 2017 (Q2 FY2017) data performed in our first assessment of data quality. For both reviews, we examined a projectable sample of budgetary and award transactions from a database that, according to Treasury, is partly used to display data on USAspending.gov. However, there were the following differences: (1) our 2017 sampling frame was confined to the 24 CFO Act agencies (which represented 99 percent of obligations in our data set at that time),⁶ while our sampling frame for this review included all agencies that submitted Q4 FY2018 data files as of February 11, 2019;⁷ (2) more agencies and their components reported data in Q4 FY2018 than in Q2 FY2017; (3) in 2017 our estimated error rate calculations included elements of certain sampled transactions that were determined to be not applicable to the transaction and were classified as consistent with agency sources in both the numerator and denominator while in this review, we excluded not applicable elements from both the numerator and denominator of the estimated rate calculations; (4) our sampling frame for this review included more data elements and subelements than were in our Q2 FY2017 sampling frame: (5) in this review, since three data elements we reviewed were derived by FPDS-NG and FABS rather than provided by agencies, we compared the information in the sample to other sources rather than agency documents and therefore did not include those results in our comparisons to Q2 FY2017; (6) agencies' Q4 FY2018 data were submitted under policies and procedures outlined in DAIMS v1.3 which reflects changes in validation rules and reporting requirements from the DAIMS v1.0 that was in effect in 2017; (7) OMB issued additional guidance on DATA Act reporting since we reported in 2017; and (8) changes were made to the Treasury broker since our last report.⁸

To evaluate how the current data governance structure affects data quality, we compared data quality challenges we identified during our review to key practices for data governance identified in our prior work to underscore the need for a more robust structure consistent with key practices. To assess progress made to develop a data governance structure consistent with key practices, we reviewed policy and other documentation related to ongoing efforts to develop a government-wide structure for governing the standards established under the act and interviewed OMB staff about these efforts. We also reviewed agency data quality plans—guidance intended to facilitate agency efforts to establish

⁷We did not include ourselves in our review for independence reasons.

⁸For example, in June 2018, OMB issued *M-18-16, Appendix A to OMB Circular No. A-123, Management of Reporting and Data Integrity Risk.*

⁶The CFO Act, Pub. L. No. 101-576, 104 Stat. 2838 (Nov. 15, 1990), among other things, established Chief Financial Officer positions at major federal entities. The current list of 24 included entities, commonly referred to as CFO Act agencies, is codified at section 901 of title 31, United States Code.

data governance programs—and interviewed agency officials on their data governance efforts.

To update the status of our recommendations related to the implementation of the DATA Act, we reviewed new guidance and other related documentation, and interviewed OMB staff and Treasury officials. See app. IV for an update on our recommendations related to DATA Act implementation.

We conducted this performance audit from November 2018 to November 2019 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Appendix III: Estimates of Consistency Rates for Award Transactions and Budgetary Accounts/Balances

Table 4: Estimates of Consistency, Inconsistency, and Unverifiable Rates for Award Information by USAspending.gov Data Element, Fourth Quarter Fiscal Year 2018 and Second Quarter Fiscal Year 2017

(Numbers are rounded to the nearest whole number)

			Estimated	d ranges ^a		
	Accurate/cor	nsistent (%) ^b	Inconsistent (%) ^c		Unverifiable (%) ^d	
Data element	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017
Award Identification Number ^e	97-100	83-91	0-1	5-11	0-3	3-8
Award Modification/Amendment Number ^f	92-100	-	0-6	_	0-6	-
Action Date	88-95	79-88	5-12	4-10	0-1	7-13
Action Type ^f	96-100	-	0-4	-	0-2	-
Award Type ⁹	-	69-79	-	10-19	-	8-16
Type of Contract Pricing ^f	95-100	-	0-5	-	0-2	-
IDV Type ^f	61-100	-	0-39	-	0-39	-
Contract Award Type ^f	95-100	-	0-5	-	0-3	-
Assistance Type ^f	98-100	-	0-2	-	0-2	-
Award Description	64-75	35-46	24-35	49-60	0-2	3-8
Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Number (CFDA)	94-100	86-95	0-3	0-3	0-6	5-13
North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) Code	62-76	68-85	23-38	7-20	0-4	5-18
Parent Award ID Number ^f	98-100	-	0-2	-	0-2	-
Federal Action Obligation	91-97	84-92	1-6	1-6	1-5	6-13
Original Loan Subsidy Cost ^f	77-97	-	0-13	-	1-20	-
Current Total Value of Award	91-98	33-52	1-8	41-61	0-5	3-13
Face Value of Direct Loan or Loan Guarantee ^f	80-99	-	1-20	-	0-7	-
Potential Total Value of Award ^f	89-97	-	2-10	-	0-5	-
Awardee/Recipient Legal Entity Name	96-99	86-93	1-4	4-10	0-1	2-6
Legal Entity Address (all subelements) ⁹	-	69-79	-	13-22	-	6-13
Address Lines 1 and 2 ^h	92-97	77-86	2-7	10-18	0-4	3-8
City Name ⁱ	87-94	80-89	3-9	7-15	2-6	3-8
State Name ^j	95-99	84-91	0-3	2-6	0-3	6-13
Zip Code ^k	83-92	76-85	4-10	10-19	3-9	3-8
Legal Entity Congressional District ⁹	-	73-82	-	8-16	-	8-15
Legal Entity Country Name	95-99	89-95	0-3	0-3	0-3	4-10
Period of Performance Start Date [†]	93-98	-	2-7	-	0-1	-
Period of Performance Current End Date ^f	84-92	-	6-14	-	0-4	-
Period of Performance Potential End Date ^f	86-95	-	4-13	-	0-4	-

Appendix III: Estimates of Consistency Rates for Award Transactions and Budgetary Accounts/Balances

	Estimated ranges ^a					
	Accurate/co	nsistent (%) ^b	Inconsis	tent (%) ^c	Unverifia	ıble (%) ^d
Data element	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017
Primary Place of Performance Address (all subelements) ⁹	-	9-16	-	62-72	-	17-25
Address Lines 1 and 2 ⁹	-	22-31	-	69-78	-	0-1
City Name	76-86	39-48	12-21	45-53	0-2	5-11
State Name	85-93	42-53	7-15	3-8	1-6	43-54
Zip Code ^g	-	48-58	-	16-25	-	23-32
Zip Code (first 5) ^{f,I}	76-86	-	10-19	-	2-8	-
Zip Code (last 4) ^{f,l}	72-83	-	16-26	-	0-4	-
Primary Place of Performance Country Name	86-93	46-57	7-14	2-6	0-2	40-51
Funding Agency Name ^m	97-100	55-66	0-1	23-32	0-3	9-16
Funding Agency Code ⁹	-	55-66	-	23-32	-	9-16
Funding Office Name ^{f.m}	85-94	-	1-8	-	3-11	-
Awarding Agency Name ^m	98-100	92-97	0-1	0-1	0-2	3-8
Awarding Office Name ^{f,m}	94-99	-	0-4	-	0-4	-

Legend: Q4 FY2018 = fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018; Q2 FY2017 = second quarter of fiscal year 2017

Sources: GAO analysis of BetaUSAspending.gov database (downloaded on 5/24/2017), USAspending.gov database (downloaded on 2/11/2019), and agency sources. | GAO-20-75

Notes: Although both this review and our 2017 review examined a projectable sample of budgetary and award transactions from the database that is used to display data on USAspending.gov, they differed in the following areas: (1) in 2017 our sampling frame was confined to the 24 Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 (CFO Act) agencies (which represented 99 percent of obligations in our data set at that time) and our sampling frame for this review included all agencies that submitted data files as of February 11, 2019; (2) more agencies and agencies' subunits reported data in Q4 FY2018 than in Q2 FY2017; (3) in 2017, the estimated rates included elements that were not applicable as consistent while in this review we excluded not applicable elements from both the numerator and denominator of the estimated rate calculations; (4) our sampling frame for this review included more data elements and subelements than were in our Q2 FY2017 sampling frame; (5) in this review, since three data elements we reviewed were derived by Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG) and Financial Assistance Broker Submission (FABS) rather than provided by agencies, we compared the information in the sample to other sources rather than agency documents and therefore did not compare those results to Q2 FY2017; (6) agencies' Q4 FY2018 data were submitted under policies and procedures outlined in the DATA Act Information Model Schema (DAIMS) version 1.3, which reflects changes in validation rules and reporting requirements from the DAIMS v1.0 that was in effect in 2017; (7) The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) issued additional guidance on DATA Act reporting since we reported in 2017; and (8) changes were made to the Treasury broker since our last report.

^aThis table shows the 95 percent confidence intervals for the estimates.

^bConsistent includes data elements rated as "consistent with agency records."

^cInconsistent includes data elements rated as "inconsistent with agency records" or "incomplete."

^dUnverifiable includes data elements rated as inaccurate because agency records were insufficient to complete the test or because the agency did not provide supporting documentation.

^eAward Identification Number consists of subelements under Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) Information Model Schema (DAIMS) 1.3 (*Procurement Instrument Identifier* for procurement awards, *Federal Award Identification Number* for financial assistance awards, and *Unique Record Identifier* for aggregate awards). ^fElement was not tested in our review of Q2 FY2017 data.

⁹Element was not tested in our review of Q4 FY2018 data.

^hLegal Entity Address Lines 1 and 2 refers to two separate subelements under DAIMS v.1.3 (Legal Entity Address Line 1 and Legal Entity Address Line 2), which we combined for reporting purposes.

¹Legal Entity Address City Name refers to two subelements under DAIMS v.1.3 (Legal Entity Address City Name and Foreign City Name), which we combined for reporting purposes.

¹Legal Entity Address State Name refers to three subelements under DAIMS v.1.3 (Legal Entity Address State Description for procurement awards and Legal Entity Address State Name and Foreign Province Name for financial assistance awards), which we combined for reporting purposes.

^kLegal Entity Address Zip Code refers to four subelements under DAIMS v.1.3 (*Legal Entity Address Zip+4* for procurement awards, *Legal Entity Address Zip 5 and Last 4* for financial assistance awards, and *Legal Entity Address Foreign Postal Code* for foreign financial assistance awards), which we combined for reporting purposes.

Primary Place of Performance Address Zip Code is one subelement under DAIMS v.1.3 (Primary Place of Performance Address Zip+4), which contains both the first five digits from the zip code and the last 4. However, the USAspending.gov database we obtained our sample from contained the zip code information for this element in two parts: 5 digit zip code and +4. Therefore, we present these subelements separately for reporting purposes.

^mElement was optional for fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018.

Table 5: Estimates of Consistency, Inconsistency, and Unverifiable Rates for Derived Award Information by USAspending.gov Data Element, Fourth Quarter Fiscal Year 2018^a

(Numbers are rounded to the nearest whole number)

	Estimated ranges ^b					
	Accurate/consistent (%) ^c	Inconsistent (%) ^d	Unverifiable (%) ^e			
Data element	Q4 FY2018	Q4 FY2018	Q4 FY2018			
Legal Entity Address	89-95	1-4	4-10			
County Name						
Primary Place of Performance Address Congressional District	84-92	1-4	7-14			
Primary Place of Performance County Name	80-88	3-9	7-14			

Legend: Q4 FY2018 = fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018.

Source: GAO analysis of USAspending.gov database (downloaded on 2/11/2019) and non-agency sources. | GAO-20-75

^aIn Q4 FY2018, in contrast to Q2 2017, these data elements were derived by FPDS-NG and FABS from other values provided by agencies. Consequently, we assessed whether the values in our sample were consistent with other sources rather than agency records. Because we tested them differently, we did not compare these to the 2017 results.

^bThis table shows the 95 percent confidence intervals for the estimates.

^cConsistent includes data elements rated as "consistent with agency records."

^dInconsistent includes data elements rated as "inconsistent with agency records" or "incomplete."

^eUnverifiable includes data elements rates as inaccurate because agency records were insufficient to complete the test or because the agency did not provide supporting documentation.

Table 6: Estimates of Consistency, Inconsistency, and Unverifiable Rates for Budgetary Information by DATA Act Data Element, Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018 and Second Quarter of Fiscal Year 2017

(Numbers are rounded to the nearest whole number)

			Estimated	l ranges ^a		
	Accurate/cor	nsistent (%) ^b	Inconsis	tent (%) ^b	Unverifia	ble (%) ^b
Data element	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017
Treasury Account Symbol ^c	97-100	94-100	-	0-3	-	0-6
Allocation Transfer Agency Identifier	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
Agency Identifier	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-6
Beginning Period of Availability	96-100	97-100	0-4	0-3	0-4	0-3
Ending Period of Availability	96-100	97-100	0-4	0-3	0-4	0-3
Availability Type Code	86-100	97-100	0-14	0-3	0-14	0-3
Main Account Code	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
Sub Account Code	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
Object Class	91-99	94-100	-	0-3	-	0-6
Object Class	91-99	97-100	1-9	0-3	0-3	0-3
By Direct Reimbursable Funding Source	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-6
Program Activity	88-98	83-96		5-17		0-3
Program Activity Name	90-99	84-96	1-9	4-16	0-6	0-3
Program Activity Code	91-99	94-100	0-7	0-6	0-6	0-3
Obligations	94-100	70-87	-	13-30	-	0-3
Obligations Incurred by Program Object Class CPE	94-100	84-96	0-6	4-16	0-3	0-3
Obligations Undelivered Orders Unpaid Total CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3
Obligations Undelivered Orders Unpaid Total FYB	94-100	94-100	0-6	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 480100 Undelivered Orders Obligations Unpaid CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 480100 Undelivered Orders Obligations Unpaid FYB	94-100	94-100	0-6	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 483100 Undelivered Orders Obligations Transferred Unpaid CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 487100 Downward Adjustments Of Prior Year Unpaid Undelivered Orders Obligations Recoveries CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 488100 Upward Adjustments Of Prior Year Undelivered Orders Obligations Unpaid CPE	97-100	83-96	0-3	5-17	0-3	0-3
Obligations Delivered Orders Unpaid Total CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3

			Estimated	ranges ^a		
	Accurate/cor	nsistent (%) ^b	Inconsist	tent (%) ^b	Unverifia	ble (%) ^b
Data element	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017
Obligations Delivered Orders Unpaid Total FYB	94-100		0-6	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 490100 Delivered Orders Obligations Unpaid CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 490100 Delivered Orders Obligations Unpaid FYB	94-100	94-100	0-6	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 493100 Delivered Orders Obligations Transferred Unpaid CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 497100 Downward Adjustments Of Prior Year Unpaid Delivered Orders Obligations Recoveries CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 498100 Upward Adjustments Of Prior Year Delivered Orders Obligations Unpaid CPE	97-100	85-97	0-3	3-15	0-3	0-3
Outlays	97-100	75-91	-	9-25	-	0-3
Gross Outlay Amount by Program Object Class CPE	97-100	91-99	0-3	1-9	0-3	0-3
Gross Outlay Amount by Program Object Class FYB	97-100	76-92	0-3	8-24	0-3	0-3
Gross Outlays Undelivered Orders Prepaid Total CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
Gross Outlays Undelivered Orders Prepaid Total FYB	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 480200 Undelivered Orders Obligations Prepaid Advanced CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 480200 Undelivered Orders Obligations Prepaid Advanced FYB	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 483200 Undelivered Orders Obligations Transferred Prepaid Advanced CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 487200 Downward Adjustments Of Prior Year Prepaid Advanced Undelivered Orders Obligations Refunds Collected CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 488200 Upward Adjustments Of Prior Year Undelivered Orders Obligations Prepaid Advanced CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
Gross Outlays Delivered Orders Paid Total CPE	97-100	91-99	0-3	1-9	0-3	0-3
Gross Outlays Delivered Orders Paid Total FYB	97-100	76-92	0-3	8-24	0-3	0-3
USSGL 490200 Delivered Orders Obligations Paid CPE	97-100	91-99	0-3	1-9	0-3	0-3

Appendix III: Estimates of Consistency Rates for Award Transactions and Budgetary Accounts/Balances

			Estimated	l ranges ^a		
	Accurate/cor	nsistent (%) ^b	Inconsis	tent (%) ^b	Unverifia	ıble (%) ^b
Data element	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017	Q4 FY2018	Q2 FY2017
USSGL 490800 Authority Outlayed not yet Disbursed CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 490800 Authority Outlayed not yet Disbursed FYB	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
USSGL 497200 Downward Adjustments of Prior Year Paid Delivered Orders Obligations Refunds Collected CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3
USSGL 498200 Upward Adjustments of Prior Year Delivered Orders Obligations Paid CPE	97-100	97-100	0-3	0-3	0-3	0-3
Unobligated Balance	97-100	94-100	-	0-6	-	0-3
Deobligations Recoveries Refunds of Prior Year by Program Object Class CPE	97-100	94-100	0-3	0-6	0-3	0-3

Legend: Q4 FY2018 = fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018; Q2 FY2017 = second quarter of fiscal year 2017; CPE = current period ending; FYB = fiscal year beginning; USSGL = U.S. Standard General Ledger

Source: GAO analysis of BetaUSAspending.gov database (downloaded on 5/24/2017), USAspending.gov database (downloaded on 2/11/2019), and agency sources. | GAO-20-75

Notes: Although both this review and our 2017 review examined a projectable sample of budgetary and award transactions from the database that is used to display data on USAspending.gov, they differed in the following areas: (1) in 2017 our sampling frame was confined to the 24 Chief Financial Officers Act of 1990 (CFO Act) agencies (which represented 99 percent of obligations in our data set at that time) and our sampling frame for this review included all agencies that submitted data files as of February 11, 2019; (2) more agencies and agencies' subunits reported data in Q4 FY2018 than in Q2 FY2017; (3) in 2017, the estimated rates included elements that were not applicable as consistent while in this review we excluded not applicable elements from both the numerator and denominator of the estimated rate calculations; (4) our sampling frame for this review included more data elements and subelements than were in our Q2 FY2017 sampling frame; (5) in this review, since three data elements we reviewed were derived by Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG) and Financial Assistance Broker Submission (FABS) rather than provided by agencies, we compared the information in the sample to other sources rather than agency documents and therefore did not compare those results to Q2 FY2017; (6) agencies' Q4 FY2018 data were submitted under policies and procedures outlined in the DATA Act Information Model Schema (DAIMS) version 1.3, which reflects changes in validation rules and reporting requirements from the DAIMS v1.0 that was in effect in 2017; (7) OMB issued additional guidance on DATA Act reporting since we reported in 2017; and (8) changes were made to the Treasury broker since our last report.

^aThis table shows the 95 percent confidence intervals for the estimates.

^bInconsistent includes data elements rated as "inconsistent with agency records" or "incomplete."

^cConsolidates the Treasury Account Symbol and Appropriations Account reported separately in 2017.

Appendix IV: Status of GAO's Open Recommendations Related to the DATA Act

In our prior Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) reports, we have made recommendations to both the Department of the Treasury (Treasury) and the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) on a range of topics. Treasury and OMB have collectively taken action that resulted in closure of nine prior recommendations on the data transparency and implementation of the DATA Act. Table 7 provides a listing of open DATA Act recommendations at the time this report was issued as well as a short discussion of their status. Full and effective implementation of the open recommendations listed below will contribute to more reliable and consistent federal data to measure the cost and magnitude of federal investments as well as facilitate efforts to share data across agencies to improve transparency, accountability, decision-making, and oversight.

 Table 7: Open GAO Recommendations regarding the Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) and Data Transparency, as of October 2019

	Recommendations	Implementation status
GAO-14-476 Data Transparency: Oversight Needed to Address Underreporting and Inconsistencies on Federal Award Website (June 2014)	To improve the completeness and accuracy of data submissions to the USAspending.gov website, the Director of the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), in collaboration with the Department of the Treasury's (Treasury) Bureau of the Fiscal Service, should clarify guidance on (1) agency responsibilities for reporting awards funded by non-annual appropriations; (2) the applicability of USAspending.gov reporting requirements to non-classified awards associated with intelligence operations; (3) the requirement that award titles describe the award's purpose (consistent with our prior recommendation); and (4) agency maintenance of authoritative records adequate to verify the accuracy of required data reported for use by USAspending.gov.	OMB has taken several steps related to this recommendation, but has not fully addressed it. Specifically, working with Treasury to implement the DATA Act, OMB took partial action on two aspects of the recommendation and is still considering actions on two others. (1) OMB staff said they continue to deliberate on agency responsibilities for reporting awards funded by non-annual appropriations. (2) OMB staff provided a Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) section that addresses the applicability of USASpending.gov reporting requirements for recipient information related to classified or sensitive information. We reviewed the FAQ and determined that additional guidance is still needed to ensure complete reporting of unclassified awards as required by the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act. In June, 2018, OMB issued an update to Appendix A in Circular A-123, <i>Management of Reporting and Data Integrity Risk</i> with a footnote citing disclosure laws and protecting sensitive information. This update to A- 123 also directs agencies to meet the standards for award description as defined as "a brief description of the purpose of the award." (3) OMB released policy guidance in May 2016 Additional Guidance for DATA Act Implementation: Implementing DATA Centric Approach for Reporting Federal Spending Information (MPM 2016-03) that identifies the authoritative sources for reporting procurement and award data. However, our review of this policy guidance determined that it does not address the underlying source that can be used to verify the accuracy of non-

	Recommendations	Implementation status
		financial procurement data or any source for data on assistance awards. This was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Director of OMB in July 2016, May 2017, April 2018, and April 2019.
GAO-15-752T DATA Act: Progress Made in Initial Implementation but Challenges Must Be Addressed as Efforts Proceed (July 2015)	To ensure that federal program spending data are provided to the public in a transparent, useful, and timely manner, the Director of OMB should accelerate efforts to determine how best to merge DATA Act purposes and requirements with the GPRA Modernization Act of 2010 (GPRAMA) requirement to produce a federal program inventory.	According to its guidance for implementing the GPRA Modernization Act of 2010 (GPRAMA), updated in June 2018, OMB is continuing to work with agencies and stakeholders to merge implementation of the DATA Act and other priorities with the federal program inventory requirements to provide a coherent picture of federal programs, activities, and spending. In July 2019, OMB officials said that promoting transparency in federal spending is an administration priority and told us that they plan to leverage existing architecture to merge the implementation of the DATA Act and GPRAMA. However, as of these updates, OMB still needs to take formal actions to implement this recommendation. This was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Director of OMB in July 2016, May 2017, April 2018, and April 2019.
	To ensure that the integrity of data standards is maintained over time, the Director of OMB, in collaboration with the Secretary of the Treasury, should establish a set of clear policies and processes for developing and maintaining data standards that are consistent with leading practices for data governance.	 OMB, in collaboration with other interagency groups, has taken a number of steps to develop data governance at both the agency and government-wide levels: (1) In October 2019, under Cross Agency Priority (CAP) Goal <i>Results Oriented Accountability for Grants</i>, OMB issued a set of grants management standard data elements; (2) In April 2019, OMB issued Memorandum M-19-16, <i>Centralized Mission Support Capabilities for the Federal Government</i>, which outlines approaches to shared services and the governance structure established to support shared services used for data reporting; (3) In June 2019, as part of the CAP Goal <i>Leveraging Data as a Strategic Asset</i>, OMB issued the draft 2019-2020 Federal Data Strategy Action Plan. This document identifies both government-wide and agency-level action steps for improving data governance. (4) OMB also issued initial guidance in July 2019 to support agency efforts to implement the first phase of the Foundations for Evidence-Based Policymaking Act of 2018. These initial implementation requirements include, among other things, requirements to designate a Chief Data Officer, with participation from relevant senior-level staff from agency business units, data functions, and financial management, by September 30, 2019. (5) In July 2019, the Federal Data Strategy Team issued a data governance playbook. However, we continue to believe that additional efforts are needed to build a data governance structure that

	Recommendations	Implementation status
		is consistent with leading practices for maintaining the integrity of standards over time. This was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Director of OMB and the Secretary of the Treasury in December 2015, July 2016, May 2017, April 2018, and April 2019.
GAO-16-261 DATA Act: Data Standards Established, but More Complete and Timely Guidance Is Needed to Ensure Effective Implementation (January 2016)	To help ensure that agencies report consistent and comparable data on federal spending, we recommend that the Director of OMB, in collaboration with the Secretary of the Treasury, provide agencies with additional guidance to address potential clarity, consistency, or quality issues with the definitions for specific data elements including <i>Award Description</i> and <i>Primary</i> <i>Place of Performance</i> and that they clearly document and communicate these actions to agencies providing this data as well as to end-users.	OMB issued guidance in June 2018 which clarifies reporting requirements for some data element definitions. However, as of July 2019, additional guidance is still needed to clarify how agencies are to report spending data using standardized data element definitions that may be open to more than one interpretation and broadly communicate this information to agencies and the public. We continue to believe additional guidance is needed to facilitate agency implementation of certain data definitions (such as <i>Award Description</i> and <i>Primary Place of</i> <i>Performance</i>) to produce consistent and comparable information. Given the challenges we have previously found with data elements such as <i>Award Description</i> and <i>Primary Place of Performance</i> (see GAO-18-138), we have concerns about whether the guidance provides sufficient detail for agencies to consistently interpret and implement the definitions. This was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Director of OMB and the Secretary of the Treasury in July 2016, May 2017, April 2018, and April 2019.
GAO-18-138 DATA Act: OMB, Treasury, and Agencies Need to Improve Completeness and Accuracy of Spending Data and Disclose Limitations (November 2017)	The Director of OMB should continue to provide ongoing technical assistance that significantly contributes to agencies making their own determinations about their DATA Act reporting requirements and monitor agency submissions. (Recommendation 1)	According to OMB staff, they have provided technical assistance to help agencies make their own determinations, and provided us with documentation showing the agencies that are required to or voluntarily report and a summary of agency submissions for one quarter. However, OMB still needs to take action on providing technical assistance to help agencies determine whether they are required to report and monitoring quarterly agency submissions to help ensure that all agencies report complete and consistent data as required. Specifically, OMB needs to follow up with agencies that are not submitting quarterly data to find out why they are not reporting. OMB also needs to update its list of agencies required to report. When we asked 18 agencies that had not submitted data for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 the reason why they had not submitted data, five agencies subsequently submitted their data and one agency told us that it was not required to report. In July 2019, OMB officials cited the release of the Data Quality Playbook, collaboration with the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency, a DATA Act submission dashboard, and ongoing technical assistance to agencies that express need for it as steps to comply with this recommendation. This

Recommendations	Implementation status
	was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Director of OMB in April 2018 and April 2019.
The Director of OMB should clarify and align existing guidance regarding the appropriate definitions agencies should use to collect and report on Primary Place of Performance and establish monitoring mechanisms to foster consistent application and compliance. (Recommendation 2)	In July 2019, OMB officials stated that existing guidance, including Memorandum M-18-16, <i>Appendix</i> <i>A to OMB Circular No. A-123, Management of</i> <i>Reporting and Data Integrity Risk</i> , and ongoing technical assistance clarifies how agencies should report <i>Primary Place of Performance</i> , but that any additional guidance specifically for reporting <i>Primary</i> <i>Place of Performance</i> is currently deliberative. However, we believe that additional clarification is needed—as well as clear communication of these changes—in order to ensure consistent reporting by federal agencies. M-18-16 also includes a requirement for agencies to develop a data quality plan and review those plans every 3 years. According to OMB staff, these steps will establish monitoring mechanisms and ensure consistent application and compliance with DATA Act standards. We will continue to monitor this as agency data quality plans are issued. This was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Director of OMB in April 2018 and April 2019.
The Secretary of the Treasury should reasonably assure that ongoing monitoring controls to help ensure the completeness and accuracy of agency submissions are designed, implemented, and operating as designed. (Recommendation 4)	In September 2019, Treasury officials told us that they are working to formalize a process for monitoring agency submissions. This process will include (1) emailing agencies prior to submission deadlines to remind them of the approaching submission deadlines; (2) following up with agencies that do not submit required data by the submissions deadline and offering technical assistance as needed; and (3) forwarding a list of non-compliant agencies to OMB. We will continue to monitor Treasury efforts to establish monitoring controls to help ensure the completeness and accuracy of the data. When we asked 18 agencies that had not submitted data for the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2018 the reason why they had not submitted data, one agency told us that it was not required to report and five agencies subsequently reported. This was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Secretary of the Treasury in April 2018 and April 2019.
The Secretary of the Treasury should disclose known data quality issues and limitations on the new USAspending.gov. (Recommendation 5)	Treasury has made progress by disclosing limitations related to the Department of Defense's prior extensions for reporting (which have since expired) and unreported spending, among other things. However, Treasury could do more to fully explain and prominently display information about data limitations on the USAspending.gov website, including disclosures needed for data not reported and optional

	Recommendations	Implementation status
		data elements. Treasury officials previously told us they were looking for a long term solution for disclosing data quality issues and limitations. This was identified as a priority recommendation in letters sent from the Comptroller General to the Secretary of the Treasury in April 2018 and April 2019.
GAO-19-72 Treasury Could Better Align USAspending.gov with Key Practices and Search Requirements (December 2018)	The Secretary of the Treasury should fully comply with OMB's requirements by providing metadata in a single location that is easy to find on the USAspending.gov website. (Recommendation 3)	Treasury agreed with the recommendation. As of August 2019, metadata are unavailable on USAspending.gov.
GAO-19-284 DATA Act: OMB Needs to Formalize Data Governance for Reporting Federal Spending (March 2019)	The Director of OMB should clarify and document OMB's procedure for changing official data definition standards for DATA Act reporting, for example, by explicitly describing how change procedures developed for other government-wide initiatives apply to DATA Act definition standards in a public source of guidance or information. (Recommendation 1)	OMB neither agreed nor disagreed with this recommendation. When we confirm what actions the agency has taken in response to this recommendation, we will provide updated information.
	The Director of OMB should ensure that the June 2018 policy changes regarding DATA Act definition standards are clearly identified and explained in the official repository or another authoritative public source of DATA Act standards and guidance, such as by including a revision history along with the current version of the definitions. (Recommendation 2)	OMB neither agreed nor disagreed with this recommendation. When we confirm what actions the agency has taken in response to this recommendation, we will provide updated information.
GAO-19-299 Pilot Effectively Tested Approaches for Reducing Reporting Burden for Grants but Not for Contracts (April 2019)	The Director of OMB should ensure that information is collected regarding how centralized reporting of procurement requirements might reduce recipient reporting burden – including input from stakeholders such as contractors through an iterative and ongoing process – to inform OMB's planned expansion of the Central Reporting Portal.	OMB neither agreed nor disagreed with this recommendation. When we confirm what actions the agency has taken in response to this recommendation, we will provide updated information.

Source: GAO summary and analysis of statements and documentation provided by OMB staff and Treasury Officials | GAO-20-75

Appendix V: Sources of Data and Process Overview on USAspending.gov

The Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) requires the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) and the Department of the Treasury (Treasury) to establish government-wide data standards that to the extent reasonable and practicable produce consistent, comparable, and searchable spending data for any federal funds made available to or expended by federal agencies.¹ These standards specify the data elements to be reported under the DATA Act and define and describe what is to be included in each data element, with the aim of ensuring that data will be consistent and comparable. The DATA Act requires OMB and Treasury to ensure that the standards are applied to the data made available on USAspending.gov which has many sources of data. Some data are from agency systems, while other data are pulled or derived from government-wide reporting systems. Key award systems that generate data files that are linked to agency submitted files include

- the Federal Procurement Data System-Next Generation (FPDS-NG), which collects information on contract actions;
- the Financial Assistance Broker Submission (FABS) which collects information on financial assistance awards;
- the System for Award Management which is the primary database for information on entities that do business with the federal government (i.e., contractors and grantees), and in which such entities must register; and
- the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA) Subaward Reporting System (FSRS), which provides data on first-tier subawards reported by prime award recipients.

Agencies submit procurement award information to FPDS-NG daily and financial assistance award information (grants, loans, insurance and other financial assistance) to FABS at least twice monthly. These award data are reflected in USAspending.gov daily. As depicted in figure 7, agencies are expected to submit financial data linked to award data and certified on a quarterly basis, 45 days after the close of the quarter. They submit three data files with specific details and data elements to Treasury's DATA Act Broker (broker) from their financial management systems

¹Pub. L. No. 113-101, 128 Stat. 1146 (May 9, 2014). The DATA Act amended FFATA. Pub. L. No. 109-282, 120 Stat. 1186 (Sept. 26, 2006), *codified at* 31 U.S.C. § 6101 note. We refer to language added to FFATA by the DATA Act as DATA Act requirements.

quarterly (Files A, B, C).² In February 2019, to reduce agency burden, Treasury made updates including an optional new broker feature that agencies can use to generate a provisional File A which agencies can choose to upload and submit as their File A in the regular submission process. The new feature produces an agency's provisional File A based on budget and financial information reported by the agency to the Government-wide Treasury Account Symbol Adjusted Trial Balance System for the creation of the SF 133 Report on Budget Execution and Budgetary Resources. The broker then extracts award and subaward information from existing government-wide reporting systems to build four files that include procurement information, information on federal assistance awards such as grants and loans, and recipient information (Files D1, D2, E, and F).

²The DATA Act Broker provides a tool for federal agencies to upload, validate, and certify quarterly financial data. Agencies can also test monthly financial data, generate award files and provisional files containing appropriations data, and view DATA Act submissions. The Broker houses both the DATA Act Broker Submission and FABS components.

Figure 7: Quarterly Submission Process for the Digital Accountability and Transparency Act of 2014 (DATA Act) Broker for Fourth Quarter Fiscal Year 2018 Agency Data Submissions



Source: GAO analysis of Department of Treasury technical documents. | GAO-20-75

Each agency's data must pass a series of validations in the broker and then be certified by the agency's senior accountable official (SAO) before they are submitted for display on USAspending.gov. According to OMB guidance, the purpose of the SAO certification is to provide reasonable assurance that the agency's internal controls support the reliability and validity of the data submitted to Treasury for publication on the website. The SAO assurance means that, at a minimum, the data reported are based on appropriate controls and risk management strategies as described in OMB Circular A-123, *Management's Responsibility for Enterprise Risk Management and Internal Control*. ³ In addition, agencies should include information about any data limitations in their SAO certification statements.

³OMB Circular No. A-123 defines management's responsibility for internal control in federal agencies. This circular provides guidance to federal managers for making federal programs and operations more accountable and effective by establishing, assessing, correcting, and reporting on internal controls.

Appendix VI: Agencies That Submitted Data for Quarter Four of Fiscal Year 2018

Table 8: Ninety-six Agencies That Submitted DATA Act Data for the Fourth Quarter of Fiscal Year 2018

Department of Agriculture	Federal Communications Commission
Department of Commerce	Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
Department of Defense	Federal Election Commission
Department of Education	Federal Labor Relations Authority
Department of Energy	Federal Maritime Commission
Department of Health and Human Services	Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service
Department of Homeland Security	Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission
Department of Housing and Urban Development	Federal Trade Commission
Department of the Interior	Government Accountability Office
Department of Justice	Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council
Department of Labor	Harry S. Truman Scholarship Foundation
Department of State	Institute of Museum and Library Services
Department of Transportation	Inter-American Foundation
Department of the Treasury	International Trade Commission
Department of Veterans Affairs	John F. Kennedy Center for the Performing Arts
Environmental Protection Agency	Marine Mammal Commission
General Services Administration	Merit Systems Protection Board
National Aeronautics and Space Administration	Millennium Challenge Corporation
National Science Foundation	Morris K. Udall and Stewart L. Udall Foundation
Nuclear Regulatory Commission	National Archives and Records Administration
Office of Personnel Management	National Capital Planning Commission
Small Business Administration	National Credit Union Administration
Social Security Administration	National Endowment for the Arts
U.S. Agency for International Development	National Endowment for the Humanities
Administrative Conference of the United States	National Mediation Board
Advisory Council on Historic Preservation	National Transportation Safety Board
African Development Foundation	Nuclear Waste Technical Review Board
American Battle Monuments Commission	Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission
Appalachian Regional Commission	Office of Government Ethics
Armed Forces Retirement Home	Office of Special Counsel

Barry Goldwater Scholarship and Excellence in Education Foundation	Overseas Private Investment Corporation
Commission for the Preservation of America's Heritage Abroad	Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Trust Fund
Committee for Purchase from People Who Are Blind or Severely Disabled (AbilityOne Commission)	Peace Corps
Commodity Futures Trading Commission	Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation
Consumer Financial Protection Bureau	Privacy and Civil Liberties Oversight Board
Consumer Product Safety Commission	Railroad Retirement Board
Corporation for National and Community Service	Securities and Exchange Commission
Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency	Selective Service System
Court Services and Offender Supervision Agency	Surface Transportation Board
Defense Nuclear Facilities Safety Board	U.S. Access Board
Delta Regional Authority	U.S. Agency for Global Media ^a
Denali Commission	U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
District of Columbia Courts (DC Courts)	U.S. Chemical Safety and Hazard Investigation Board
Election Assistance Commission	U.S. Commission on Civil Rights
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission	U.S. Courts of Appeals for Veterans Claims
Executive Office of the President	U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness
Export-Import Bank of the United States	U.S. Trade and Development Agency
Farm Credit System Insurance Corporation	Vietnam Education Foundation

Source: GAO analysis of agency submission files on USAspending.gov. | GAO-20-75

^aThe Broadcasting Board of Governors changed its name to the U.S. Agency for Global Media in August 2018.

Appendix VII: Comments from the U.S. Agency for International Development

	FROM THE AMERICAN PEOPLE October 25, 2019
	Michelle Sager Director, Strategic Issues U.S. Government Accountability Office 441 G Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20226
	Re: DATA ACT: Quality of Data Has Improved, but Action is Needed to Improve Completeness and Accuracy and to Better Disclose Known Data Limitations (GAO-20- 75)
	Dear Ms. Sager:
	I am pleased to provide the formal response of the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) to the draft report produced by the U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) titled, <i>DATA ACT: Quality of Data Has Improved, but Action is Needed to Improve Completeness and Accuracy and to Better Disclose Known Data Limitations</i> (GAO-20-75).
	The report contains no recommendations for USAID. Nonetheless, USAID wishes to make clear that we remain committed to improving the ability of Americans to track and understand how the U.S. Government spends their tax dollars by making information on Federal expenditures more accessible and transparent. Since Fiscal Year 2017, USAID has submitted quarterly financial and procurement data through the Data Broker maintained by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, which makes our expenditure information available to the public on the USAspending.gov website.
ē	I am transmitting this letter from USAID for inclusion in the GAO's final report. Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the draft report, and for the courtesies extended by your staff while conducting this engagement. We appreciate the opportunity to participate in the GAO's evaluation of our implementation of the DATA Act.
	Sincerely, <i>Judench Vett</i> Frederick Nutt Assistant Administrator Bureau for Management

Appendix VIII: Comments from the Department of the Treasury

1759		DEPARTMENT OF WASHINGT		
SSISTANT SEC	RETARY			
		OCT 2 8	2019	
		001 2 0		
	helle Sager			
	ctor, Strategic Issues	Lititu Office		
	Government Accounta G St NW	admity Office		
	hington, DC 20226			
Dear	Ms. Sager:			
Thar	k you for the opportur	nity to review the draft	report entitled DATA	ACT: Quality of Data
Has	Improved but Action i	's Needed to Improve it.	s Completeness and A	ccuracy and to Better
Disc	lose Known Data Limi	tations (GAO-20-75) (the Draft Report). The	e Draft Report examines
the I	Department of the Trea	surv's work under the I	Digital Accountability	and Transparency Act of
2014	(DATA Act) and disc	cusses the quality of da	a reported by agencie	s and posted on
LISA	spending gov. The rer	ort also addresses the	work of the Office of	Management and Budget
and	Treasury in establishin	g and maintaining data	standards, as well as	progress made in
deve	loning a data standard	s governance structure	consistent with leading	g practices.
dere	stoping a oute standard	e go i en anti-		
The	implementation of the	DATA Act has been a	substantial undertaking	ng over the past few
vear	s and we have made si	gnificant progress to in	crease transparency f	or more than \$4 trillion
in ar	nnual spending. We ar	e pleased the Draft Rep	ort acknowledges that	t overall data quality
— i.	e., timeliness, complet	eness, and accuracy -	has improved since (GAO's 2017 review.
Trea	sury is committed to f	ully realizing the DAT.	A Act's promise of he	lping to improve data
accu	racy and transparency.	, and as GAO recomme	ended, we welcome th	e opportunity to better
com	municate the known da	ata limitations on USA	spending.gov.	
The	Draft Report makes ty	vo recommendations to	Treasury regarding t	he disclosure on
USA	spending.gov of speci	ific known data limitati	ons. These recommen	dations provide that
Trea	surv should communio	cate data limitation info	ormation concerning (1) the 90-day delay in the
avai	lability of Department	of Defense procureme	nt data, and (2) how c	ertain Medicare payment
	are reported.			
We	accept the Draft Repor	t's recommendations a	nd will work to imple	ment them over the
com	ing months. Specifical	lly, we will reach out to	the Department of H	ealth and Human Services
and	the Department of Del	fense to better commun	icate known data lim	tations and discuss
opp	ortunities to minimize	those limitations where	possible. In addition	n, we remain committed to
		s prior DATA Act reco	mmendations to Trea	sury and continue to work
tow	ards that goal.			
	•			

Thank you again for the opportunity to review and comment on the Draft Report. We appreciate your suggestions for enhancing the quality of the data submitted to Treasury for publication on USAspending.gov. We look forward to continuing the work of providing consistent and comparable federal spending data to the public. Sincerely, David A. Lebryk Fiscal Assistant Secretary 2

Appendix IX: GAO Contacts and Staff Acknowledgments

GAO Contacts	Michelle Sager, (202) 512-6806 or sagerm@gao.gov		
	Paula M. Rascona, (202) 512-9816 or rasconap@gao.gov		
Staff Acknowledgments	In addition to the above contacts, Peter Del Toro (Assistant Director), Kathleen Drennan (Assistant Director), Michael LaForge (Assistant Director), Maria C. Belaval (Auditor-in-Charge), Barbara Lancaster (Analyst-in-Charge), Diane Morris (Auditor-in-Charge), Carl Barden, Daniel Berg, Mark Canter, Jenny Chanley, Shelby Clark, Tracy Davis Ross, Tabitha Fitzgibbon, Valerie Freeman, Jamaika Hawthorne, Michael Kany, Roy Kilgore, Peter Kramer, Seraé LaFache-Brazier, Krista Loose, Tonyita Muschette, Quang Nguyen, Kristine Papa, Joseph Raymond, Lisa Rowland, Susan Sato, John A. Schaefer, Sara Shore, James Skornicki, Andrew J. Stephens, James Sweetman, Jr., Silvia Symber, and Lisa Zhao made key contributions to this report. Additional members of GAO's DATA Act Internal Working Group also contributed to the development of this report.		

Related GAO Products

DATA Act: Customer Agencies' Experiences Working with Shared Service Providers for Data Submissions. GAO-19-537. Washington, D.C.: July 18, 2019.

DATA Act: Pilot Effectively Tested Approaches for Reducing Reporting Burden for Grants but Not for Contracts. GAO-19-299. Washington, D.C.: April 30, 2019.

DATA Act: OMB Needs to Formalize Data Governance for Reporting Federal Spending. GAO-19-284. Washington, D.C.: March 22, 2019.

Open Data: Treasury Could Better Align USAspending.gov with Key Practices and Search Requirements. GAO-19-72. Washington, D.C.: December 13, 2018.

DATA Act: Reported Quality of Agencies' Spending Data Reviewed by OIGs Varied Because of Government-wide and Agency Issues. GAO-18-546. Washington, D.C.: July 23, 2018.

DATA Act: OMB, Treasury, and Agencies Need to Improve Completeness and Accuracy of Spending Data and Disclose Limitations. GAO-18-138. Washington, D.C.: November 8, 2017.

DATA Act: As Reporting Deadline Nears, Challenges Remain That Will Affect Data Quality. GAO-17-496. Washington, D.C.: April 28, 2017.

DATA Act: Office of Inspector General Reports Help Identify Agencies' Implementation Challenges. GAO-17-460. Washington, D.C.: April 26, 2017.

DATA Act: Implementation Progresses but Challenges Remain. GAO-17-282T. Washington, D.C.: December 8, 2016.

DATA Act: OMB and Treasury Have Issued Additional Guidance and Have Improved Pilot Design but Implementation Challenges Remain. GAO-17-156. Washington, D.C.: December 8, 2016.

DATA Act: Initial Observations on Technical Implementation. GAO-16-824R. Washington, D.C.: August 3, 2016.

DATA Act: Improvements Needed in Reviewing Agency Implementation *Plans and Monitoring Progress.* GAO-16-698. Washington, D.C.: July 29, 2016. DATA Act: Section 5 Pilot Design Issues Need to Be Addressed to Meet Goal of Reducing Recipient Reporting Burden. GAO-16-438. Washington, D.C.: April 19, 2016.

DATA Act: Progress Made but Significant Challenges Must Be Addressed to Ensure Full and Effective Implementation. GAO-16-556T. Washington, D.C.: April 19, 2016.

DATA Act: Data Standards Established, but More Complete and Timely Guidance Is Needed to Ensure Effective Implementation. GAO-16-261. Washington, D.C.: January 29, 2016.

Federal Spending Accountability: Preserving Capabilities of Recovery Operations Center Could Help Sustain Oversight of Federal Expenditures. GAO-15-814. Washington, D.C.: September 14, 2015.

DATA Act: Progress Made in Initial Implementation but Challenges Must be Addressed as Efforts Proceed. GAO-15-752T. Washington, D.C.: July 29, 2015.

Federal Data Transparency: Effective Implementation of the DATA Act Would Help Address Government-wide Management Challenges and Improve Oversight. GAO-15-241T. Washington, D.C.: December 3, 2014.

Government Efficiency and Effectiveness: Inconsistent Definitions and Information Limit the Usefulness of Federal Program Inventories. GAO-15-83. Washington, D.C.: October 31, 2014.

Data Transparency: Oversight Needed to Address Underreporting and Inconsistencies on Federal Award Website. GAO-14-476. Washington, D.C.: June 30, 2014.

Federal Data Transparency: Opportunities Remain to Incorporate Lessons Learned as Availability of Spending Data Increases. GAO-13-758. Washington, D.C.: September 12, 2013.

Government Transparency: Efforts to Improve Information on Federal Spending. GAO-12-913T. Washington, D.C.: July 18, 2012.

Electronic Government: Implementation of the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006. GAO-10-365. Washington, D.C.: March 12, 2010.

GAO's Mission	The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.
Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony	The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through GAO's website (https://www.gao.gov). Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. To have GAO e-mail you a list of newly posted products, go to https://www.gao.gov and select "E-mail Updates."
Order by Phone	The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, https://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.
	Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.
	Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.
Connect with GAO	Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, Twitter, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or E-mail Updates. Listen to our Podcasts. Visit GAO on the web at https://www.gao.gov.
To Report Fraud,	Contact FraudNet:
Waste, and Abuse in	Website: https://www.gao.gov/fraudnet/fraudnet.htm
Federal Programs	Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7700
Congressional Relations	Orice Williams Brown, Managing Director, WilliamsO@gao.gov, (202) 512-4400, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125, Washington, DC 20548
Public Affairs	Chuck Young, Managing Director, youngc1@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548
Strategic Planning and External Liaison	James-Christian Blockwood, Managing Director, spel@gao.gov, (202) 512-4707 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7814, Washington, DC 20548